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home-in the men's room at the YMCA, one
block west of the White House on G street,
for 'disorderly conduct,' a euphemism jor
inexplicable departure from accepted sexual
conduct. Rumors flooded Washington, and
the Republican National Committee, quickly
notified, helped spread them. Abe Fortas and
Clark Clifford vamly tried to kill publicaticm
oj the news by personally visiting each of
the three daily Washington newspapers. But
the news could not be suppressed and was
transmitted across the country by United
Press International on October 14.

"Walter Jenkins was no mere employee of
the President. For twenty-five years, he had
labored faithfully, effective, and energetically
as Johnson's confldentlal assistant. Alone
among all of Johnson's aides, he had stayed
and lasted, the faceless, anonymous servant
to the end, serving Johnson without ques
tion and without ambition. His daughter
Beth was Lucl Johnson's best friend. Lady
Bird Johnson and Marge Jenkins were warm
friends. Jenkins had been priVy to every
Johnson hope and p,splration not only dur
ing the long years in the Senate but In the
White House as well. He had, in fact, brought
on his own destruction by driving himself
in the service of Lyndon Johnson eIghteen
hours a day, seven days a week, unt1l, his
body exhausted and his mind stretched taut
by overwork, he had simply fallen apart.

"On October 15, Mrs. Johnson, heartsick
over the tragedy, Issued a statement from
the White House filled with sympathy for
Jenkins and his fam1ly. Johnson was cam
paigning In New York. He said nothing for
well over twenty-four hours, despite the
strongest advice from both his staff and from
Mrs. Johnson herself that he say something
to ease the anguish of his friend. But John
son was torn between two conflicting forces:
friendship and the fact the election was less
than three weeks away.

"For. In those dark hours the evening of
October 14, a wave of fear swept through the
White House that this could be the happen
Ing that would change the course of history.
Jenkins had been privy to every piece of
classified Intelligence In the White House.
Was It possible that he had been subjected
to blackma1l, that the incident of October 7,
or perhaps previous incidents, had been ex
ploited by enemies of the United States?
Within hours of the disclosure, RepUblicans
were suggesting just that. Goldwater began
talking about Johnson's 'curious crew' to the
roar of approval from the Republican
faithful.

"Johnson resolved the conflict between
friendship and the election by coming down
on the side of the election.

"He said nothing at all about Jenkins. He
did not speak to Jenkins. He did what he
had to do as President, instructing Abe For
tas to get Jenkins' resignation. He ordered
an Immediate investigation by the FBI (re
sulting In a report by J. Edgar Hoover on
OCtober 22 that there was no evidence of
any kind that Jenkins had compromised the
security of the United States).

"Simultaneously, the President commis
sioned Ollle Quayle to take an emergency
publ1c-oplnlon poll. It indicated the Jenkins
case would have no perceptible effect on the
election. Only then, late at night on October
15, the day after the story had broken, did
the President finally Issue a statement prais
Ing Jenkins' twenty-five years of 'personal
dedication, devotion, and tireless labor' and
expressing 'deepest compassion' for both him
and his family:'

CONCLUSION OF MORNING
BUSINESS

Mr. MANSFIELD. Mr. President, is
there further morning business?

The PRESIDING OFFICER. Is there
further morning business? If not, morn
ing business is concluded.

WHOLESOME POULTRY PRODUCTS
ACT

Mr. MANSFIELD. Mr. President, I ask
unanimous consent tliat the Senate pro
ceed to the consideration of the unfin
ished business.

The PRESIDING OFFICER. The bill
wlll be stated by title for the informa
tion of the Senate.

The BILL CLERK. A bill (S. 2932) to
clarify and otherwise amend the Poultry
Products Inspection Act, to provide for
cooperation with appropriate State agen
cies with respect to State poultry prod
ucts inspection programs, and for other
purposes.

The PRESIDING OFFICER. Is there
objection to the present consiCeration of
the bill?

There being no objection, the Senate
proceeded to consider the bill.

Mr. HOLLAND. Mr. President, I wish
to give notice that the quorum call which
I am about to request will be a live quo
rum.

Mr. President, if there are any other
matters that can be transacted shortly,
I shall be happy to yield for them.

I am not trying to hold up the business
of the Senate, but in considering a meas
ure as important as this, first, I wish to
discover whether we have a quorum pres
ent, and, second, I think every Senator
ought to have a chance to pass upon a
certain matter that will come up for con
sideration, which is unanimously sup
ported by the commissioners of agricul
ture of the 50 States, and which has been
supported heretofore in writing by the
Secretary of Agriculture, in testimony by
his Assistant Secretary, Dr. Mehren, and
in writing by the Administrator of the
Meat Inspection and Poultry Inspection
Division of the Department of Agricul
ture.

Mr. MANSFIELD. Mr. President, will
the Senator yield?

Mr. HOLLAND. I am happy to yield.
Mr. MANSFIELD. Mr. President, the

Senator from Florida has been most con
siderate to allow us to get a lot of busi
ness out of the way. I would suggest that
he repeat his request for a quorum call,
and assure him notice , ..ill be served to
attaches that this will be a live quorum.

Mr. HOLLAND. I wonder how the
majority leader would feel about this:
after we have concluded our arguments
today, as I understand, there will be only
one amendment on which there will be
any controversy. Could a vote on that
amendment and final passage be had on
Monday?

Mr. MANSFIELD. I would be de
lighted, if it meets with the approval of
all concerned.

Mr. HOLLAND. I have not discussed
this with the chairman of the commit
tee, the distingUished Senator from
Louisiana [Mr. ELLENDERl, nor with the
Senator from New Mexico [Mr. MON
TOYA] , but it would seem to me, if we
complete the debate today, that no one
involved would be likely to disagree, even
if we have a bare quorum today, that as
full a representation of the Senate as
possible ought to be present to pass on
this controversial matter.

Mr. MONTOYA. Mr. President, will
the Senator yield?

from New Mexico.
Mr. HOLLAND. I yield to the Senator
Mr. MONTOYA. I agree with the Sen

ator from Florida that this is a very vital
amendment, on which most of Members
of the Senate should have a chance to
vote. It affects consumer interest
throughout this country, and I person
ally am willing to put it over until
Monday. ,

Mr. MANSFIELD. Not the discussion;
the vote.

Mr. MONTOYA. The vote; yes. To put
the vote over until Monday, so that we
can have a more extensive representa
tion of the Senate.

Mr. HOLLAND. I thank the Senator. I
am not surprised that he takes the posi
tion he does, because I believe most Sen
ators will wish to be recorded on this
matter. I. have no idea how they will
want to be recorded, but I certainly
would protect thei!' right to be recorded
on this matter.

Mr. MANSFIELD. Am I correct in my
understanding that there is only one
amendment the Senator knows of?

Mr. HOLLAND. There is another
amendment, which I understand will
not be opposed, but, as far as I know,
only one controversial amendment is to
come up. If the Senator from Louisiana
or the Senator from New Mexico has
any different information, I shall be
happy to yield to them.

Mr. ELLENDER. Mr. President, there
were four amendments added to the bill
other than those recommended by the
subcommittee that considered this
measure. I do not foresee any lengthy
debate on any amendment adopted by
the committee itself, other than the one
proposed by the distinguished Senator
from Florida. I am very hopeful we can
get a few Senators present to listen to
this debate, because it is very important.
My fear is if we now announce we will
postpone the vote, we will be debating
the matter with only two or three or
four Senators in the Chamber.

Mr. MANSFIELD. No; because if any
of the Senators have any ideas like that,
I can assure them there will be live
quorum calls this afternoon. We are not
here just to put on a charade.

Mr. HOLLAND. Mr. President, as far
as I am concerned, I do not propose to
ask now for any postponement, and if
there is a large attendance of Senators
today, let us say 70 or more, I would not
make that proposal.

Mr. MANSFIELD. There are not that
many.

Mr. HOLLAND. I do feel, and I am
glad that the Senator from New Mexico
agrees with me, that the membership of
the Senate generally should have the
right to be recorded on this amendment.

Mr. ELLENDER. Mr. President, I
wonder whether the distinguished ma
jority leader would fix the hour for
voting.

UNANIMOUS-CONSENT REQUEST

Mr. MANSFIELD. Mr. President ,I
ask unanimous consent that when the
Senate meets at 11 o'clock on Monday
morning next, there be a time limita
tion of 1 hour, the time to be equally
divided between the majority and mi
nority leaders or whatever Senators
they may designate, and that the vote
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home-in the men's room at the YMCA, one
block west of the WhIte House on G street,
for 'dIsorderly conduct,' a euphemism /or
inexplicable departure /rom accepted sexual
conduct. Rumors flooded Washington, and
the Republican National CommIttee, quIckly
notified, helped spread them. Abe Fortas and
Clark Clifford vai:nly tried to kill publication
0/ the news by personally visiting each 0/
the three daily Washington newspapers. But
the news could not be suppressed and was
transmItted across the country by UnIted
Press International on October 14.

"Walter Jenkins was no mere employee of
the President. For twenty-five years, he had
labored faithfully, effective, and energetIcallY
as Johnson's confldentlal assistant. Alone
among all of Johnson's aIdes, he had stayed
and lasted, the faceless, anonymous servant
to the end, servIng Johnson wIthout ques
tion and without ambition. HIs daughter
Beth was Lucl Johnson's best frIend. Lady
Bird Johnson and Marge Jenkins were warm
friends. Jenkins had been prIvy to every
Johnson hope and l',spiration not only dur
Ing the long years In the Senate but In the
White House as well. He had, In fact, brought
on his OV;'tl destructIon by drIving himself
In the service of Lyndon Johnson eIghteen
hours a day, seven days a week, untll, hIs
body exhausted and his mind stretched taut
by overwork, he had simply fallen apart.

"On October 15, Mrs. Johnson, heartsick
over the tragedy, Issued a statement from
the White House filled with sympathy for
Jenkins and his family. Johnson was cam
paigning In New York. He said nothIng for
well over twenty-four hours, despIte the
strongest advIce from both his staff and from
Mrs. Johnson herself that he say somethIng
to ease the anguish of hIs friend. But John
son was torn between two conflIcting forces:
friendshIp and the fact the election was less
than three weeks away.

"For. in those dark hours the evening of
October 14, a wave of fear swept through the
White House that this could be the happen
ing that would change the course of history.
Jenkins had been prIvy to every piece of
classified Intelligence In the WhIte House.
Was It possible that he had been subjected
to blackmall, that the IncIdent of October 7,
or perhaps previous Incidents, had been ex
ploited by enemIes of the United States?
WithIn hours of the disclosure, Republlcans
were suggesting just that. Goldwater began
taiklng about Johnson's 'curIous crew' to the
roar of approval from the Republican
faithful.

"Johnson resolved the conflict between
friendship and the election by coming down
on the sIde of the election.

"He said nothIng at all about Jenkins. He
did not speak to Jenkins. He did what he
had to do as President, Instructing Abe For
tas to get Jenkins' resIgnation. He ordered
an Immediate Investigation by the FBI (re
sulting In a report by J. Edgar Hoover on
OCtober 22 that there was no evIdence of
any kind that Jenkins had compromised the
security of the UnIted States).

"SImultaneously, the President commis
sioned Ollie Quayle to take an emergency
pUblic-opInion poll. It Indicated the Jenkins
case would have no perceptIble effect on the
election. Only then, late at night on October
15, the day after the story had broken, dId
the President finally Issue a statement prais
Ing Jenkins' twenty-five years of 'personal
dedication, devotion, and tireless labor' and
expressing 'deepest compassIon' for both him
and hIs famlly:'

CONCLUSION OF MORNING
BUSINESS

Mr. MANSFIELD. Mr. President, is
there further morning business?

The PRESIDING OFFICER. Is there
further morning business? If not, morn
ing business is conclUded.

WHOLESOME POULTRY PRODUCTS
ACT

Mr. MANSFIELD. Mr. President, I ask
unanimous consent tliat the Senate pro
ceed to the consideration of the unfin
ished business.

The PRESIDING OFFICER. The bill
will be stated by title for the informa
tion of the Senate.

The BILL CLERK. A bill (S. 2932) to
clarify and otherwise amend the Poultry
Products Inspection Act, to provide for
cooperation with appropriate State agen
cies with respect to State poultry prod
ucts inspection programs, and for other
purposes.

The PRESIDING OFFICER. Is there
objection to the present consiCeration of
the bill?

There being no objection, the Senate
proceeded to consider the bill.

Mr. HOLLAND. Mr. President, I wish
to give notice that the quorum call which
I am about to request will be a live quo
rum.

Mr. President, if there are any other
matters that can be transacted shortly,
I shall be happy to yield for them.

I am not trying to hold up the business
of the Senate, but in considering a meas
ure as important as this, first, I wish to
discover whether we have a quorum pres
ent, and, second, I think every Senator
ought to have a chance to pass upon a
certain matter that will come up for con
sideration, which is unanimously sup
ported by the commissioners of agricul
ture of the 50 States, and which has been
supported heretofore in writing by the
Secretary of Agriculture, in testimony by
his Assistant Secretary, Dr. Mehren, and
in writing by the Administrator of the
Meat Inspection and Poultry Inspection
Division of the Department of Agricul
ture.

Mr. MANSFIELD. Mr. President, will
the Senator yield?

Mr. HOLLAND. I am happy to yield.
Mr. MANSFIELD. Mr. President, the

Senator from Florida has been most con
siderate to allow us to get a lot of busi
ness out of the way. I would suggest that
he repeat his request for a quorum call,
and assure him notice , ..ill be served to
attaches that this will be a live quorum.

Mr. HOLLAND. I wonder how the
majority leader would feel about this:
after we have concluded our arguments
today, as I understand, there will be only
one amendment on which there will be
any controversy. Could a vote on that
amendment and final passage be had on
Monday?

Mr. MANSFIELD. I would be de
lighted, if it meets with the approval of
all concerned.

Mr. HOLLAND. I have not discussed
this with the chairman of the commit
tee, the distinguished Senator from
Louisiana [Mr. ELLENDERl, nor with the
Senator from New Mexico [Mr. MON
TOYA] , but it would seem to me, if we
complete the debate today, that no one
involved would be likely to disagree, even
if we have a bare quorum today, that as
full a representation of the Senate as
possible ought to be present to pass on
this controversial matter.

Mr. MONTOYA. Mr. President, will
the Senator yield?

from New Mexico.
Mr. HOLLAND. I yield to the Senator
Mr. MONTOYA. I agree with the Sen

ator from Florida that this is a very vital
amendment, on which most of Members
of the Senate should have a chance to
vote. It affects consumer interest
throughout this country, and I person
ally am willing to put it over until
Monday. ,

Mr. MANSFIELD. Not the discussion;
the vote.

Mr. MONTOYA. The vote; yes. To put
the vote over until Monday, so that we
can have a more extensive representa
tion of the Senate.

Mr. HOLLAND. I thank the Senator. I
am not surprised that he takes the posi
tion he does, because I believe most Sen
ators will wish to be recorded on this
matter. I. have no idea how they will
want to be recorded, but I certainly
would protect thei!' right to be recorded
on this matter.

Mr. MANSFIELD. Am I correct in my
understanding that there is only one
amendment the Senator knows of?

Mr. HOLLAND. There is another
amendment, which I understand will
not be opposed, but, as far as I know,
only one controversial amendment is to
come up. If the Senator from Louisiana
or the Senator from New Mexico has
any different information, I shall be
happy to yield to them.

Mr. ELLENDER. Mr. President, there
were four amendments added to the bill
other than those recommended by the
subcommittee that considered this
measure. I do not foresee any lengthy
debate on any amendment adopted by
the committee itself, other than the one
proposed by the distinguished Senator
from Florida. I am very hopeful we can
get a few Senators present to listen to
this debate, because it is very important.
My fear is if we now announce we will
postpone the vote, we will be debating
the matter with only two or three or
four Senators in the Chamber.

Mr. MANSFIELD. No; because if any
of the Senators have any ideas like that,
I can assure them there will be live
quomm calls this afternoon. We are not
here just to put on a charade.

Mr. HOLLAND. Mr. President, as far
as I am concerned, I do not propose to
ask now for any postponement, and if
there is a large attendance of Senators
today, let us say 70 or more, I would not
make that proposal.

Mr. MANSFIELD. There are not that
many.

Mr. HOLLAND. I do feel, and I am
glad that the Senator from New Mexico
agrees with me, that the membership of
the Senate generally should have the
right to be recorded on this amendment.

Mr. ELLENDER. Mr. President, I
wonder whether the distinguished ma
jority leader would fix the hour for
voting.

UNANIMOUS-CONSENT REQUEST

Mr. MANSFIELD. Mr. President ,I
ask unanimous consent that when the
Senate meets at 11 o'clock on Monday
morning next, there be a time limita
tion of 1 hour, the time to be equally
divided between the majority and mi
nority leaders or whatever Senators
they may designate, and that the vote
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be taken on the Holland amendment not
later than 12 o'clock.

Mr. HOLLAND. Mr. President, I shall
agree to that request after we discover
whether a quorum is present today, but
I ask for a live quorum first. Assuming
that a quorum is present, I shall sup
pOrt the request of the majority leader.

Mr. President, I suggest the absence
of a quorum. It will be a live quorum
call.

The PRESIDING OFFICER. The
clerk will call the roll.

The. bilI clerk called the roll, and the
followmg Senators answered to their
names:

INa. 245 Leg.)
Allott Hatfield Man toys
Anderson Hlckenlooper Mundt
Baker Hili Nelson
Bible Holland Pea'l"son
Boggs Hollings Pell
Byrd. W. Va. Hruska Proxmire
Case Jackson Randolph
Cotton Jordan, N.C. Rlblcolf
Curtis Jordan, 1d·aho Russell
Ellender Knchel Scott
Ervin Ma: 'sfield Smathers
F'ong McGee Sparkman
Griffin 1\1c1n tyre Stennis
Hansen Metcalf Williams, N.J.
Harris MondaJe Young, Ohio

The PRESIDING OFFICER. A quo
rum is not present.

Mr. MANSFIELD. Mr. President, I
move that the Sergeant at Arms be di
rected to request the attendance of ab
sent Senators.

The PRESIDING OFFICER. The
question is on agreeing to the motion of
the Senator from Montana.

The motion was agreed to.
The PRESIDING OFFICER. The

Sergeant at Anus will execute the order
of the Senate.

After a little delay, the following Sen
ators entered the Chamber and answered
to their names:
Byrd, Va. Fannin Symington
Cooper Hayden Tydings
Dirksen McClellan
Dodd Spong

Mr. BYRD of West Virginia. I an
nounce that the Senator from Hawaii
[Mr. INOUYE] is absent on official busi
ness.

I also announce i;hat the Senator from
Alaska [Mr. BARTLETT], the Senator from
Indiana [Mr. BAYH], the Senator from
Maryland [Mr. BREWSTER], the Senator
from North Dakota [Mr. BURDICK], the
Senator from Nevada [Mr. CANNON],
the Senator from Idaho [Mr. CHURCH],
the Senator from Pennsylvania [Mr.
CLARK], the Senator from Mississippi
[Mr. EASTLAND], the Senator from Ar
kansas [Mr. FuLBRIGHT], the Senator
from Tennessee [Mr. GORE], the Sena
tor from Alaska [Mr. GRUEN1NG], the
Senator from Michigan [Mr. HART], the
Senator from Indiana [Mr. HARTKE], the
Senator from Massachusetts,.[Mr. KEN
NEDY], the Senator frombhio [Mr.
LAUSCHE], the Senator from Missouri
[Mr. LONG], the Senator from Louisi
ana [Mr. LONG], the Senator from Wash
ington [Mr. MAGNUSON], the Senator
from Minnesota [Mr. MCCARTHY], the
Senator from South Dakota [Mr. Mc
GOVERN], the Senator from Oklahoma
[Mr. MONRONEY], the Senator from
Oregon [Mr. MORSE], the Senator from
utah [Mr. Moss], the Senator from
Maine [Mr. MUSKIE], the Senator from
Rhode Island [Mr. PASTORE], the Sena-

tor from Georgia [Mr. TALMADGE], and
the Senator from Texas [Mr. YAR
BOROUGH] are necessarily absent.

Mr. KUCHEL. I announce that the
Senators from Vermont [Mr. AIKEN and
Mr. PROUTY] are absent on official busi
ness.

The Senator from Utah [Mr. BEN
NETT], the Senator from Massachusetts
[Mr. BROOKE], the Senator from Kansas
[Mr. CARLSON], the Senator from Colo
rado [Mr. DOMINICK], the Senator from
New York [Mr. JAVITS], the Senator
from Kentucky [Mr. MORTON], the Sen
ator from California [Mr. MURPHY], the
Senator from nlinois [Mr. PERCY], the
Senator from South Carolina [Mr.
THURMOND], the Senator from Texas
[Mr. TOWER], and the Senator from
Delaware [Mr. WILLIAMS] are necessarily
absent.

The Senator from Iowa [Mr. MILLER],
the Senator from North Dakota [Mr.
YOUNG], and the Senator from Maine
[Mrs. SMITH] are detained on official
business.

The PRESIDING OFFICER. A quorum
is present.

UNANIMOUS-CONSENT AGREEMENT

Mr. MANSFIELD. I should like again
to propound the unanimous-consent re
quest, that, at the conclusion of the dis
position of the Journal on Monday morn
ing next, July 29, 1968, at approximately
11 :02 a.m. or 11 :03. a.m. there be a time
allocation, not to go beyond 12 o'clock,
to be equally divided between the minor
ity and majority leaders or whomever
they may designate; and that the vote
on all amendments take place at 12
o'clock.

The PRESIDING OFFICER. Is there
objection to the request of the Senator
from Montana?

Mr. HOLLAND. Mr. President, of
course, I have no objection, but when it
takes an hour to get a bare quorum here
this morning, 50 out of 99 Senators, it
is obvious that Senators will not have
an opportunity to express themselves on
this very important matter today.

If we go ahead to a vote, I would sug
gest, however, that the time allowance,
under what I have heard recently, be
separate on each amendment, because
my present understanding from the Sen
ator from Louisiana is that there will
probably be a discussion of at least one
more amendment than the one I offered,
which is a controversial amendment.

Mr. ELLENDER. Mr. President, I think
that we should be able to discuss the
amendments this afternoon. I am sure
that many Senators will read the RECORD
and probably have a better opportunity
to learn what the bill is all about than
by being present. I believe that we should
debate from 11 o'clock until 12 o'clock
and then start voting on the amendments
one after the other; and, then on the
bill itself.

Mr. HOLLAND. Mr. President, I have
no objection to that approach. However,
I would suggest that at least half an hour
be allowed on any amendment. I under
stand that the distinguished Senator
from Georgia is not here today and may
have an amendment that he wants to
modify and support. I do not want him
to feel that we are not taking care of

him as well as we are taking care of the
Senator from Florida.

My suggestion would be that the
unanimous-consent agreement be modi
fied to provide at least 30 minutes of
debate to be allowed on any amendment,
after which there will be a roll call vote.
That would make the unanimous-consent
agreement quite acceptable to me.

Mr. MANSFIELD. Mr. President, with
that modification, I renew my unani
mous-consent request and also ask that
the usual rules and regulations be fol
lowed in respect to it.

The PRESIDING OFFICER. Will the
Senator from Montana please restate his
unanimous-consent request1

Mr. MANSFIELD. Mr. President, I ask
unanimous consent that at the conclu
sion of the disposition of the Journal on
Monday next, there be a time limitation
of one-half hour on each amendment,
the time to be equally divided between
the sponsor of the amendment and the
Senator in charge of the bill; and that,
hopefully, the vote can take place be
ginning at 12 o'clock.

Mr. ELLENDER. Right.
The PRESIDING OFFICER. Is there

objection to the request of the Senator
from Montana?

Mr. NELSON. At 12 o'clock?
Mr. MANSFIELD. We come in at 11

o'clock on Monday next.
Mr. NELSON. Mr. President, I object

to that. I am here on Saturday. I can
celed out my engagement in Wisconsin.
Other Senators have also done so. I am
now going to Wisconsin. I will get back
here about noon on Monday, which will
be just in time to miss the vote.

Mr. MANSFIELD. Just in time to make
the vote.

Mr. NELSON. That will not give me
enough time, because of my schedule,
and so forth.

Mr. HOLLAND. Mr. President, if the
Senator will yield, that will be acceptable
tome.

Mr. MANSFIELD. Mr. President, I
change the time to 12: 30 o'clock.

Mr. SCOTT. Mr. President, reserving
the right to object-and I shall not ob
ject-I merely wish to point out the fact
that a number of us are here on Satur
day, a number of us have changed our
appointments and our engagements and,
therefore, it operates a degree of harsh
ness upon us, that those who are now
here are penalized and those who stayed
away are rewarded.

As a result of this procedure, some of
us will have to be away to take part in
a great American function, beginning on
Monday next. For patriotic reasons
and I should like it to be noted-I shall
ask for a leave of absence to be away
during the sessions of the Senate next
week, purely in the interests of further
ing my patriotic motivations. But, Mr.
President, I shall not object at this time,
although I am sorely distressed.

Mr. MANSFIELD. When that request is
made, will the Senator make it an official
leave of absence?

Mr. SCOTT. Yes, I shall be delighted to
be official about it.

Mr. HANSEN. Mr. President, reserving
the right to object-and I shall not ob
ject-I, too, would like to note that those
of us in the minority party do find our
selves somewhat at a disadvantage in this
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instance, because those who serve on the
platform committee are going to miss
either the actions of the Senate or par
ticipation in some of the activities having
to do with the formulation of a platform
for party in Miami this coming week.

1 would note that the same handicap
will not befall our friends on the other
side of the aisle.

Mr. MANSFIELD. We did not plan it
that way, though.

Mr. HANSEN. I simply observe what
the facts are. With great respect and ad
miration for the distinguished majority
leader, I, too, want to point out that I
am here today, that I have been rather
diligent in trying to be on hand when the
Senate has been in session. It is not
pleasant to contemplate missing consid
erable activity and participation in dis
cussion and the votes being taken during
the coming first 3 days of this next week
which will either witness my having
missed the votes of being unable to par
ticipate in some activities important to
my party in Miami.

The PRESIDING OFFICER. Is there
objection to the request of the Senator
from Montana? The Chair hears none
and the order is entered.

The unanimous-consent request as
later reduced to writing, is as follows:

Ordered, That, effective after the approval
of the Journal on Monday, July 29, 1968,
during the further consideration of the bill
(S. 2932) to clarify and otherwise amend the
Poultry Products Inspection Act, to provide
for cooperation with appropriate State agen
cies with respect to State pOUltry prodUCts
inspection programs,and for other purposes,
debate on any amendment, motion or appeal
except a motion to lay on the table, shall
be limited to one-half hour, to be equally di·
vided an,d controlled by the mover of any such
amendment or motion and the Senator from
Louisiana [Mr. ELLENDER): Provided, That in
the event the Senator from Louisiana is in
favor of any such amendment or motion,
the time in opposition thereto shall be con
trolled by the minority leader or some Sen
ator designated by him: Provided further,
That no amendment that is not germane to
the provisions of the sald bill shall be re
ceived.

Ordered further, That no vote shall occur
on any amendment prior to 12:30 p.m. on
Monday next.

Mr. MANSFIELD. I wish to thank the
Senate and especially those Members
who had to make a real sacrifice. There
are many here today attending this ses
sion. May I say that while we have a
quorum, we have gone beyond the num
ber of Senators required to be present.

Furthermore, for the information of
the Senate, it took just 35 minutes to
achieve a quo'rum this morning. That is
not too bad, considering the time, the
day, and so forth.

May I express my appreciation to all
those Members who canceled engage
ments to be here today and to assure
them that I personally appreciate what
they have done.

LEAVE OF ABSENCE

Mr. SCOTT. Mr. President, at the mo
ment, my attendance record is some
thing in the neighborhood of 95 percent.

Through no fault of my own, or of my
side of the aisle, I shall be unable to be
present during much of next week.

I therefore ask unanimous consent
that I may have official leave of ab
sence for next week.

The PRESIDING OFFICER. Without
objection, it is so ordered.

Mr. SCOTT. Mr. President, may I
make a plea for mercy, if not for jus
tice, on the part of those who might be
disposed to call for· record votes next
week, wherever a voice vote will do. I
hope that mercy will prevail over the
record.

Mr. ELLENDER. Mr. President, dur
ing the last few years, there have been
many legislative proposals with respect
to red meat inspection as well as poul
try.

It will be recalled that in 1967 Con
gress revised the act of 1906 in refer
ence to red meat inspection, and in 1957
we had a bill enacted which provided
for inspection of poultry in interstate
cOIIlIllerce.

Today we have before us a bill de
signed to provide for a cooperative ef
fort between the Federal Government
and the state governments in order to
have poultry inspection that would af
fect all poultry, whether sold in inter
state commerce or intrastate commerce.

The subcommittee headed. by the Sen
ator from North Carolina [Mr. JORDAN]
held hearings on this bill. Last week
the subcommittee made its report to the
full committee. All of the recommenda
tions, I think, made by the subcommit
tee were adopted by the full committee.
The full committee adopted four addi
tional amendments, which I shall discuss
in a few moments.

Mr. President, I am very hopeful that
we can have this bill enacted before Con
gress recesses. I think it is an important
bill. It is a step in the right direction.
The bill is patterned after the red meat
inspection bill that Congress enacted in
1967.

The inspection will be done on a co
operative basis. The Federal Government
will furnish the States funds in order to
work out methods for inspection. At the
end of 2 years it is expected that, if the
States have inspection service equal to
or better than Federal inspection, such
poultry will be able to be shipped in in
terstate as well as intrastate commerce.
If some of the States do not complete
their programs of inspection within the
first 2 years, then a third year will be
given.

The pending bill provides almost the
identical language that was provided
in the red meat inspection bill, which
gives the Federal Government the right
to go into a State and take over the in
spection of, let us say, a particular pack
ing plant which is producing adulterated
poultry products endangering the public
health.

However, as I understand the proposed
act we are now considering, under no
conditions can the Federal Government
take over unless, as I have said, the in
spection shall not be equal to or better
than the Federal inspection.

My good friend the Senator from New
Mexico [Mr. MONTOYA], who was a mem
ber of the subcommittee that handled
the hearings, will go into more detailed
discussion of the bill as a whole than I
hope to present this afternoon. What I
expect to do is to give just a general
statement of the overall effect of the bill.

The present Poultry Products Inspec
tion Act became law about 11 years ago.

Although it is a model as far as it goes,
it does not provide complete assurance
that all consumers will have aecess to
wholesome poultry.

The 1957 act established a Federal in
spection system for poultry and poultry
products processed by plants shipping
in interstate and foreign commerce. For
the products covered, it has worked well
because it assures that the birds or prod
ucts bearing its mark are wholesome, un
adulterate&, and honestly labeled. For
the poultry products not covered, inspec
tion service, when provided, is often in
adequate.

Instead of replacing the Poultry Prod
ucts Inspection Act completely, S. 2932
amends it to authorize the establish
ment of a Federal-State cooperative in
spection service for poultry products
comparable to that provided under the
Federal Meat Inspection Act, as amended
in 1967. Through help in the develop
ment of trained staffs and the provision
of funds by the Federal Government, the
States are encouraged to enact and ad
minister effective mandatory inspection
programs under State administration or
jointly with the Federal Government.
Two years are allowed the States in
which to implement such a system. If
the Secretary has reason to believe a
State will meet this requirement, an
additional year will be given to complete
the installation and employment of the
system.

The bill extends Federal inspection
and regulation to poultry processed for
shipment within the States where the
States do not enforce requirements at
least equal to the Federal requirements
after the specified times above.

Where poultry products processed
solely for intrastate commerce endan
gered the public health, the Federal re
quirements could, under specified condi
tions, be applied at any time to those
partiCUlar establishments.

Through such extension of the exist
ing Poultry Products Inspection Act, the
proposed Wholesome Poultry Products
Act provides that the bulk of the 13 per
cent-some 1.6 billion pOunds-of the
poultry slaughtered each year in the
United States without Federal inspection
would soon be covered by requirements
equal to the 87 percent now federally
inspected.

In measures similar to those in title
II of the Federal Meat Inspection Act,
the bill would authorize surveillance of
the activities where adulteration or mis
branding could occur other than just the
processing or slaughtering phases. The
persons or firms subject to such super
vision would include, among others in
commerce, poultry prodUCts brokers, ren
derers, animal-food manufacturers, and
dealers in dead, dying, disabled, or dis
eased poultry or parts of poultry that
died other than by slaughter.

The Subcommittee on Aglicultural Re
search and General Legislation held
hearings on July 1 and 2, 1968, on all
poultry bills before it.

All witnesses except one testified in
favor of updating the act. However, a
number of amendments were proposed.

Later the subcommittee met and, using
H.R. 16363 as a base, decided to recom
mend five amendments to the full com-
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mittee, which was to meet on Wednes
day, July 17,1968.

The full committee at its regular meet
ing approved all amendments proposed
by its subcommittee. These were:

First, to strike the word "knowingly"
from section 9(a), in order to conform
that section to the corresponding section
of the Meat Inspection Act. This change
does not affect carriers, since section 12
<b) of the law absolves carriers "unless
the carrier has knowledge, or is in pos
session of facts which would cause a rea
sonable person to believe" that the poul
try was not eligible for transportation.

Second, to prohibit the Secretary from
requiring any change in the ollicial in
spection legend. That legend is and would
continue to be "inspected for wholesome
ness". The Department has given some
consideration to changing it to "in
spected and passed for wholesomeness".
Since the legend cannot be applied to
products which are not passed, this
change would not give the consumer any
greater protection.

Third, to strike out requirements that
labeling information be placed on both
the carcass and the container in the case
of nonconsumer packed carcasses. Poul
try carcasses cannot be stamped like red
meat. Metal or plastic tags have been
tried, but these present some danger to
the consumer, if they are inadvertently
ingested.

The record shows, Mr. President, that
in one or two instances, consumers of
poultry marked with some kind of metal
marker swallowed one of the markers
and had to go to a doctor, and there was
a suit for damages. But the Secretary,
as I understand it, in this bill is given
discretion for the use of markers if
necessary. The evidence showed that it
would be rather difficult for each bird
to be marked. And even if this were pos
sible it would provide little additional
protection to the consumer, particularly
when the bird comes to the retailer, is
cut up, and the parts repackaged, so that
the mark on the carcass never reaches
the consumer. It would be burdensome
but would not provide the consumer with
any way to tell whether or not the bird
was properly inspected. But the bill does
make it necessary that all poultry
shipped-that is, the container-be
marked. Sometimes one may ship a
dozen, two dozen, or three dozen chick
ens, but the bill provides that the pack
age must be stamped.

I repeat, I think the evidence showed
conclusively that it would be almost im
possible for us to maintain identification
in this manner from the place where the
poultry was slaughtered to the purchaser.
As I have stated, the Secretary of Agri
culture is allowed wide discretion as to
how best to maintain such identification,
if It is at all possible, but this provision
would not contribute to that objective.

Fourth. To provide interested parties
with an opportunity to present their
views orally with respect to proposed
rulemaking under the Poultry Products
Inspection Act. Title 5, United States
Code, section 553(c), now provides them
with the opportunity to present written
views. Judicial review is provided for by
chapter 7 of title 5 of the United States
Code.

Fifth. To prohibit any State, territory,

or the District of Columbia from impos
ing storage or handling regulations with
respect to articles prepared at any of
ficial establishment which would act as
trade barriers to interfere with the free
flow of poultry products in interstate
commerce, and extend the Secretary's
authority to regulate storage and han
dling under section 13 of the bill to cover
storage and handling at retail stores and
other establishments which make pur
chases in commerce.

Individual Senators also proposed sev
eral amendments.

The Senator from Georgia [Mr. TAL
MADGE] offered and the committee ac
cepted by voice vote an amendment to
the declaration of policy which is· con
tained in section 3 of the bill stating the
intent of Congress that all poultry which
is injurious for human consumption
shall be condemned, and stating that the
reason for condemnation must be sup
ported by substantial scientific fact.

The committee accepted an amend
ment of the Senator from Florida [Mr.
HOLLAND] by a record vote of 10 to 2,
among the objectors being the distin
guished Senator from Oregon [Mr.
HATFIELD] and my good friend from New
Mexico [Mr. MONTOYA], Senator MON
TOYA reserving the right to offer on the
floor an amendment striking from the
bill the provisions of the amendments to
which I have just referred; that is, the
amendment of the Senator from Georgia
[Mr. TALMADGE] and that of the Senator
from Florida [Mr. HOLLAND]. The
amendment of the Senator from Florida
would permit poultry products and meat
and meat products which have been
processed under State inspection to move
in interstate commerce, where the Sec
retary has determined that the State
inspection system is equal to or better
than the Federal system.

After the committee had acted upon
the bill, there developed quite a lot of
opposition from outside the committee
to the amendment submitted by the
Senator from Georgia as well as the
amendment submitted by the Senator
from Florida. The Senator from New
Mexico [Mr. MONTOYA] came to see me
before the bill was reported, with a view
of trying to have the bill retained by the
committee until the committee could go
over these amendments again, and per
haps modify them, change them, or do
something with them that might be ac
ceptable to the committee as a whole.

r stated to Senator MONTOYA that if he
could satisfy the Senator from Georgia
and the Senator from Florida, r would
have no objection to that, because they
were the ones primarily interested in
these two amendments. I also suggested
that if we returned the bill to the com
mittee, more time would be consumed;
that probably someone would suggest
the introduction of evidence, which
would delay the passage of the bill, and
for that reason, I suggested that the
matter be discussed first with the Sena
tor from Florida and the Senator from
Georgia. I further suggested that they
try to iron out their differences before
the bill was presented to the Senate for
debate.

Somehow, a meeting of the minds did
not occur. The distinguished Senator
from Florida and the distinguished

Senator from Georgia suggested that it
might be best for the bill to be re
ported as voted by the committee and
that we would have the Senate, as a
forum, in which to discuss. the two
amendments and let the Senators judge
the measure by the facts developed in
the debate. That is why the bill is pend
ing today with those two amendments
in it.

I do not wish to discuss in detail those
amendments, but I point out that when
r introduced the original bill on behalf
of myself and quite a few other Senators,
the amendment suggested by the dis
tinguished Senator from Florida was in
the bill.

That provision appearS\ on page 19 of
the bill. That bill was sent to us by the
Department of Agriculture with a de
scription, title by title, and a request that
it be introduced and enacted by Con
gress.

The provision proposed by the dis
tinguished Senator from Florida is the
same as appears on pages 19 and 20 with
the exception that he added a provision
to cover red meat also.

Mr. President, I ask unanimous con
sent that that amendment be printed at
this point in the RECORD as it appears on
pages 19 and 20 of the bill.

There being no objection, the amend
ment was ordered to be printed in the
RECORD, as follows:

(5) POUltry prodUCts processed. under
State inspection at any establishment in any
State, not designated under this para
graph (c), In accordance with requirements
which the Secretary has determined are at
least equal to those under sections 1-4, 6-10.
and 12-22 or this Act, shall be eligible for
distribution in commerce, upon the same
basis as poultry products inspected under
this Act, when they are marked under such
supervision and other conditions as the
Secretary may by regulation prescribe, with
a combined State-Federal official inspection
legend.

Mr. ELLENDER. Mr. President, the
provision simply provides that if, as, and
when the Federal Government certifies
that State inspection is equal to, as good
as, or better than that of the Federal
Government, then through the inspec
tion services in those States poultry can
be shipped in interstate commerce just
as though it were federally inspected.

Personally, I do not see any reason
why the provision should be stricken
from the bill. When the matter came be
fore the committee, I sided with the dis
tinguished Senator from Florida. I hope
that during the debate the Senate will
consider the proposal and act fairly
about the matter. I cannot understand
why there was this great, outside op
position to the amendment.

I am very hopeful the matter can be
properly presented today and that on
Monday we can vote on it. As far as I
am concerned, I expect to vote for the
inclusion in the bill of the Holland
amendment.

I do not know whether the opposition
stems from the fact that red meat was
added to the Holland amendment. How
ever, if that be the reason, it might be
that we could strike out the red meat
reference and let it apply to poultry
within the confines of this act.

I assume that the senator from New
Mexico [Mr. MONTOYA] and the Senator
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from Oregon [Mr. HATFIELD] w1ll offer
reasons why the amendment should not
be agreed to.

Mr. HOLLAND. Mr. President, will the
Senator yield?

Mr. ELLENDER. I yield to the Senator
from Florida.

Mr. HOLLAND. Mr. President, I am
looking at the bill which the distin
guished Senator from Louisiana graci
ously introduced on behalf of himself
and others. It is my understanding that
he introduced the measure on behalf
of himself and the Senator from New
Mexico [Mr. MONTOYA] only.

I ask if the Senator will look at the
bill and see if that is not correct.

Mr. ELLENDER. The Senator is cor
rect. The other names were added later.

Mr. HOLLAND. The original print of
the bill shows that the Senator from
Louisiana introduced the bill on behalf
of himself and the Senator from New
Mexico [Mr. MONTOYA).

Mr. ELLENDER. The Senator is cor
rect. The provision is included, and the
Senator from New Mexico and I pro
posed it.

Mr. MONTOYA. Mr. President, will
the Senator yield?

Mr. ELLENDER. I yield.
Mr. MONTOYA. Mr. President, I state

to the distinguished Senator from Lou
isiana and to the distinguished Senator
from Florida that I had been checking
on the drafting of the pending bill. My
office had access to a copy of a draft and
this provision was not in the last draft
of the bill that we had seen. It appeared
in the final draft submitted to the Sena
tor from Louisiana, in which draft I
joined with him as a cosponsor.

I state also, since this has been made
a point of contention, that the subcom
mittee which considered the bill recom
mended the deletion of the so-called
Holland amendment to the full commit
tee. That deletion took place.

The House committee, when it con
sidered a similar bill, recommended that
the so-called Holland provision be
deleted from the House bill. The House
bill came to us without the so-called
Holland provision.

It was not until we met in full com
mittee that the provision offered by the
Senator from Florida was reinserted in
the bill.

By way of further clarification of the
RECORD, in my testimony before the sub
committee, I recommended in my state
ment to the subcommittee that it delete
the so-called Holland provision and the
subcommittee clld in fact delete it. Since
the committee added it, I have an
amendment pending at the desk to
delete it.

Mr. ELLENDER. Mr. President, I
merely desired to state the facts. And
as I have stated them a moment ago, the
subcommittee which considered the bill
offered five amendments and that was all.
Later, the amendment of the Senator
from Florida and the amendment of the
Senator from Georgia were agreed to
by the committee.

Mr. MONTOYA. I am not disputing
the Sentor's statement of facts. How
ever, I merely wanted to add a few facts
of my own to put the whole matter in the
proper context.

Mr. ELLENDER. The senator will have

ample opportunity to do that, I am sure.
Mr. HOLLAND. Mr. President, will

the Senator yield? .
Mr. ELLENDER. I yield.
Mr. HOLLAND. Mr. President, I

thought I understood the Senator to
say that the bill was an administration
bill prepared in the Department of Agri
culture and introduced by the Senator
from Louisiana for himself and the
Senator from New Mexico.

Mr. ELLENDER. The Sentor is cor
rect. Before the bill was put in the proper
form, I went over it with the staff very
carefully. I think we made a few minor
changes. It was then that I presented
the mehsure to the Senate.

Mr. HOLLAND. The Senator did not,
however, put in this particular amend
ment?

Mr. ELLENDER. No.
Mr. HOLLAND. That amendment

came in this particular form from the
Department of Agriculture.

Mr. ELLENDER. The Senator is cor
rect.

Mr. HOLLAND. I thank the Senator.
Mr. ELLENDER. There is no doubt

about that.
As I said in my opening statement a

while ago, the pending bill follows very
closely the red meat inspection bill, al
most on all counts. It more or less sub
stituted poultry ~or red meat. That is
about what it did.

The Senator from Vermont [Mr.
AIKEN] proposed an amendment, also
accepted by a voice vote, which would
change the producer exemption provided
by section 15(c) G) (i) of the law as it
would be amended by section 14 of the
bill as passed by the House to provide
for an exemption based on the number
of birds processed, instead of the "whole
sale dressed value" of the birds slaugh
tered.

In other words, it exempted poultry of
not to exceed $15,000 in value. It was
thought by the Senator from Vermont
that if we could change this to make it
apply to the number of birds, to wit,
4,000 turkeys or an equivalent number
of other birds, it would be better. Four
and a half other birds would be consid
ered equal to each turkey.

As I have said, that amendment was
merely to clarify exemptions and, in
stead of making it on a value basis, to
put it on a number basis.

Finally, the committee accepted an
amendment of the Senator from Iowa
[Mr. MILLER] which amends the import
ed poultry products provision to cor
respond to the provisions adopted last
year in the Federal Meat Inspection Act.

I do not believe anyone opposes the
amendment. It was adopted unani
mously. It Is a provision, as I recall, that
was included in the Red Meat Act in
1967.

Mr. President, the statement I have
just made is a general one, and I believe
it covers the main points in the bill. I
presume that the distinguished Senator
from New Mexico, who I understand will
speak now, will give a little more de
tailed expression of what is in the bill.

Mr. MONTOYA. Mr. President, I have
listened to the remarks of the distin
guished Senator from Louisiana, and I
believe he has done a splendid job in
explaining the intricate provisions of the

proposed legislation. I, too, have pre
pared a comprehensive statement and I
will read it so that it will appear in the
RECORD for the perusal of Senators who
may not be present today.

Mr. President, the country has awak
ened in the last several years to an acute
danger facing every citizen. There exists
in some areas of American enterprise a
tiny minority of unscrupulous persons
who prey l.1pon the American shopper.
By ignoring elementary rules of ethical
conduct, they endanger the health and
well-being of millions of unsuspecting
consumers.

Last year we were all collectively
shocked to realize that millions of Amer
icans were constantly exposed to un
wholesome meat. Congress responded
with vigorous action in the form of the
new National Meat Inspection Act, which
I was happy to sponsor in the Senate.

Now we must turn our attention to
yet another menace Confronting us-un
wholesome poultry and poultry products.
S. 2932, the wholesome poultry prod
ucts bill, which the Senator from Louisi
ana [Mr. ELLENDER] and I have intro
duced, and in which we have been joined
by other Senators, is aimed at cQrrect
ing this insufferable situation.

The primary purpose of the wholesome
poultry products bill is to assure all con
sumers that all poultry prodUCts pro
duced commercially in the United States
meet a minimum standard of wholesome
ness, whether inspected under a State or
a Federal system. Intent of S. 2932 is
similar to provisions of the Wholesome
Meat Act which I sponsored last year.

This bill would amend the Poultry
Products Inspection Act to-

First. Authorize Federal assistance
inclUding grants-to State poultry in
spection programs, such assistance not
to exceed 50 percent of the cost of the
cooperative program;

Second. Extend Federal inspection to
intrastate transactions in States which
fail to develop adequate State systems in
2 years--or 3 years if at the end of 2
years it appears that the State will de
velop an adequate system;

Third. Provide immediate authority to
extend Federal inspection to intrastate
plants producing adulterated products
which endanger the public where the
State does not remove such danger;

Fow·th. Prohibit commerce in poultry
products not intended for human use,
unless denatured;

Fifth. Extend the present recordkeep
ing provision to additional persons-in
clUding those dealing in dead, dying, dis
abled, or diseased poultry-and enlarge
it to cover facility and inventory exami
nation;

Sixth. Provide for registration of cer
tain persons dealing in poultry-inclUd
ing those dealing in dead, dying, disabled,
or diseased poultry;

Seventh. Provide for regulation of
dealers in dead, dying, disabled, or dis
eased poultry;

Eighth. Authorize regulation of poultry
product storage and handling;

Ninth. Modify exemptions;
Tenth. Provide for withdrawal of serv

ice, detention, seizure and condemna
tion, injunction, and investigation as
new enforcement tools; and
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Eleventh. Otherwise revise the Poultry

Products Inspection Act.
The manner in which inspection of

poultry is now handled by the Federal
Government is excellent. USDA's Con
sumer and Marketing Service is doing a
laudable job of protecting consumer in
terests. However, now we perceive the
same condition that pertained in the
meat crises of last year. They are able
only to inspect that portion of produc
tion that moves interstate or in foreign
commerce. In 1966, this amounted to
10 billion pounds, or 87 percent of poul
try slaughtered in our Nation.

That 13 percent produced solely for sale
within a State's boundaries has been left
strictly to States as far as inspection is
concerned. USDA's figures show that 12
States have a mandatory law requiring
poultry inspection, five States have a
voluntary inspection statute and 33
cover poultry inspection in general food
legislation.

This multibillion-dollar-yearly indus
try depends upon the trust of our Amer
ican consumers. Once she doubts the
integrity of our poultry supply, that in
dustry is in desperate trouble. There
fore, it is imperative that we plug these
inspection loopholes swiftly. We can ac
complish this by expanding our ah'eady
excellent Poultry Products Inspection
Act.

Nor is there any doubt that such ac
tion is necessary. A January 1968 sur
vey by the Department of Agriculture
of 97 non-federally-inspected poultry
slaughtering and processing plants in 12
States revealed that over one third of
them required major overhaul in order
to meet Federal sanitary requirements.

When we realize there are some 26
different diseases common to poultry
that may be passed on to human beings
through consumption of unwholesome
poultry, we have significant cause for
concern.

In poultry processing plants that are
federally inspected, there is a 4-percent
rejection rate because of disease or con
tamination. This amounts to over 400
million pounds. When we apply the same
percentage of rejection to poultry which
is not federally inspected, we discover an
added 64 million pounds which should be
rejected. Furthei', this figure is on the
conservative side, since there is a prac
tice among some poultry producers to
send inferior poultry which would face
Federal rejection, to plants which are
not federally inspected.

Total impact of these statistics? Each
year every American is likely at least
once to have placed before him a dis
eased, contaminated, or adulterated poul
try product.

Poultry has become big business due to
tremendous technological;. advances, au
tomation and creation of giant poultry
farms and processing plants.

A typical broiler plant now processes
approximately 4,800 birds hourly, with
an estimated output of 60 birds per man
hour. Such factories have turned to pal
letized coop-handling, automatic killing
and defeathering, chilling and wrapping
systems. Approximately 75 percent of the
output of these plants is sold more than
200 miles from point of slaughter, with
birds being raised in areas of concen-

trated commercial production far re
moved from eventual markets.

Mr. President, this is a clearly set out
problem. A tiny minority of unscrupu
lous businessmen are poisoning the minds
of consumers by permitting a steady
stream of unwholesome poultry to reach
American tables. The peace of mind of
the consumer is in as much danger as
his digestion.

As long as American shoppers can enter
a business establishment with a reason
able amount of confidence in what they
are going to purchase, our marketplace
is safe and our system with it.

But, as soon as the consumer feels his
personal safety is in jeopardy, our entire
system is as endangered as our market
place.

It is imperative that public confidence
in basic, everyday products and the pro
gression producing them be restored.

I am not seeking to penalize an entire
industry. It is an increasingly valuable
and contributing segment of America's
business life. All the more reason for us
to perform as we must and eliminate this
small but deadly amount of poison en
tering its bloodstream.

Consumer protection is business pro
tection. By removing the unscrupulous
operator, it makes our business life that
much healthier and able to perform its
functions.

Consumers are not the blind buyers of
yesterday. Rather, they are more in
formed and aware than ever before. Not
content with half measures, they look to
business and to Congress for a clean
house. This we can do with a minimum
of aggravation and force.

Our poultry industry is progressive and
desirous of aiding us in this task. Fur
thermore, this measure is a fair one. It
allows States fair leeway to set up their
own programs. We do not seek to have
the National Goverrunent come in and
trample upon state functions. Rather,
we seek to have that National Govern
ment aid our States to set up their own
programs in order to safeguard their own
consumers. This is the main intent and
thrust of this legislation.

But above all, we must keep in mind
the fact that no matter What, the Ameri
can shopper and consumer must be able
to purchase her poultry and poultry
products with complete confidence. We
must and can remove this shadow from
their minds. Each of us is affected and
endangered.

Mr. President, in reporting out S. 2932,
the committee adopted the language of
the House-passed companion bill, H.R.
16363, and amended that language in
several respects. One notable improve
ment over the House-passed language is
the rejection of the proposal that a vio
lation of the provisions of the act had to
be done "knowingly" to constitute a vio
lation. This provision which was adopted
by the House, but which your committee
rejected, would have made prosecution
for violations of the act much more diffi
cult if not impossible. The Poultry Prod
ucts Inspection Act has thus been kept
in conformity with other statutes for
protection of the public health, such as
the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic
Act and the Federal Meat Inspection Act.
We, thus, also recognize the need for

putting affirmative responsibility on per
sons engaged in producing or distributing
products which are susceptible of en
dangering the public health or commit
ting commercial fraud on the public, to
exercise all necessary precautions to
avoid these results. The Senate version
in this respect is a substantial improve
ment over HR. 16363 and will aid in
effectuating the purpose of protecting
the consumer.

Mr. President, it was the committee's
intent in reporting S. 2932 to the Senate
to afford as complete consumer protec
tion against adulterated or misbranded
poultry prodUCts, as was provided to con
sumers of red meat by enactment of the
Wholesome Meat Act last year.

In general, the provisions of S. 2932
closely parallel and in many instances
are identical to the provisions of the
Wholesome Meat Act. I know that the
consumers of this Nation have been wait
ing for us in Congress to deliver our
promise of last year to insure them
against adulterated poultry as we did for
red meat. It was with this objective in
mind that S. 2932 was submitted by the
President to the Congress, and it was
with this objective in mind that I-al
though I had been drafting a proposal of
my own-readily joined Senator ELLEN
DER, chairman of the Committee on Ag
riculture and Forestry, in introducing the
bill. And, it was with this in mind that
the Subcommittee on Agricultural Re
search and General Legislation held
hearings on the bill and reported it out
to the full committee for its considera
tion.

However, Mr. President, because of
certain amendments that were adopted
at the last moment in committee, with
very little time for discussion or delib
eration, the committee has failed in its
objective. As an individual Senator and
member of the committee, it is incum
bent upon me to bring to the attention
of the Senate, provisions contained in
the bill which I strongly feel not only
detracts from, but which could very well
destroy, the very intent which has fol
lowed this bill's progress to this point.

Mr. President, when this bill was re
ported out by the committee, I filed a
minority report pointing to major weak
nesses in this bill and proposing remedial
alternatives. In this minority report, I
was joined by the distinguished Senator
from Minnesota [Mr. MONDALE], who
fought so valiantly for the passage of
the Wholesome Meat Act last year. I was
also joined by my good friend the dis
tingUished Senator from South Dakota
[Mr. MCGOVERN]. And I was joined by
the distinguished and able Senator from
Oregon [Mr. HATFIELD].

Mr. President, it is now my under
standing that the Senator from Georgia
[Mr. TALMADGE] will offer a substitute
amendment to his committee amend
ment which I was going to move to strike
out. I will, therefore, accommodate Sen
ator TALMADGE and withhold my amend
ment to his amendment until he is here
on Monday and I have had an oppor
tunity to discuss this further with him. I
would, however, like to direct some re
marks to the Talmadge committee
amendment so that Senators will have
an opportunity to review this over the
weekend.
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Mr: President, as we pOinted out in

our minority views, the _ .committee
amended section 3 of the bill containing
a statement of legislative policy by add
ing at the end thereof the following:

It is the intent of Congress that all poul.
try which is injurious for human consump
tion shall be condemned. The reason for con
demnation must be supported by substantive
scientific fact.

Mr. President, if Senator TALMADGE
had been here, I would have called up an
amendment on behalf of myself, Senator
MONDALE, Senator MCGoVERN, and Sen
ator CLARK, to strike out this provision
from the bill.

This language may appear harmless,
but it is not.

In the most simple terms, it says that
Congress does not object to diseased
poultry being offered to consumers if it
is not injurious to human health.

It will subject the Department of Agri
culture to pressures to allow diseased
poultry to be approved as wholesome.

The Congress must be clear on this
point, we must be explicit. Diseased poul
try must be condemned. Diseased poultry
is not wholesome, and it cann.ot be of
fered to consumers with even the im
plied consent of the Congress.

This amendment, fitst of all, is incon
sistent with the substantive provisions
of the bill which clearly indicate the con
cern of Congress in protecting the con
sumers from all adulterated products,
not only those injurious to humans, as
indicated by the provisions for condem
nation of adulterated poultry products.
Secondly, the last sentence of the
amendment would indicate that it is the
intention that "substantive scientific
fact" would have to be established as a
prerequisite to a valid condemnation of
any poultry product.

Mr. President, I wish to say that when
the senator from Georgia [Mr. TAL
MADGE] offered the amendment in com
mittee, he had a noble purpose, indeed.
However, the ramifications of the
amendment he proposed were not fore
seen by the committee until they began
to studY it.

I am happy to say that the Senator
from Georgia and his office have as
sured us they are trying to get a dif
ferent version of the amendment so that
it will be more palatable to the Senate
but yet not dilute the consumer protec
tion intent of the bill.

This amendment would raise serious
problems in that there are a number of
circumstances or conditions which under
the act warrant condemnation of poultry
products with respect to which they may
not be available substantive scientific
fact and in some cases such facts would
necessarily not be involved. There are
conditions warranting condemnation, but
with respect to which there may not be
pOsitive "substantive scientific fact" to
establish their potential injury to hu
mans. The adulteration provisions of the
bill dealing with commercial fraud, such
as the substitution of inferior material
to deceive the public, do not in any way
involve "substantive scientific fa-cts."

Mr. President, I ask unanimous con
sent to have printed at this paint in the
RECORD a brief, discussing the many poul
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try diseases which may affect humans.
Some of the diseases listed are detected
on ante- or post-mortem inspection.
Others are detected through the enforce
ment of sanitary requirements designed
to minimize the contamination of edible
prodUCts with disease-producing agents.

There being no objection, the memo
randum was ordered to be printed in the
RECORD, as follows:

POULTRY DISEASES WHICH MAy AFFECT

HUMANS

Poultry Inspection Includes organoleptic
ante- and post-mortem examinations of
pOUltry in slaughterIng and eviscerating
plants. It also includes inspection for en.
vironmental sanitation and the application
of sanitary processing procedures and in
spection for the soundness of Ingredients, in
process products, and finished products in
slaughtering and eviscerating and further
processing plants.

Some of the diseases Hsted on the follow
ing pages are detected on ante- or post
mortem inspection. Others are detected
through the inspection of ingredients, in
process products, and finished products for
soundness or they are controlled through the
enforcement of sanitary requtrements de
signed to minimize the contamination of
edible products with disease-producing
agents.

The followin~ diseases have been found
transmissible from poultry to man.

A. BACTERIAL DISEASES

1. Erysipelas
2. Tuberculosis
3. Alrsacculltis
4. Salmonellosis
5. Dlptherla
6. Brucellosis
7. Newcastle disease
8. Paracolon infections
9. Staphylococcosis

10. Streptococcosis
11. Tularemia

B. VIRAL DISEASES

1. Encephalomyelitis
2. Encephalitis
3. Newcastle disease
4. Ornithosis
5. Rabies
6. Leukosis (cancerous)

C. FUNGAL DISEASES

1. Asperglllosis
2. Favus
3. Thrush

D. TOXIC ILLNESSES

1. Tetanus
2. Botulism

E. PARASITIC ILLNESSES

1. Echlnostomlasis
2. Schistosomiasis
3. Dermanyssus gal1lnae
4. Toxeplasmosis
The following diseases may be carried by

poultry and can infect humans. Usually come
about through insanitary processing and
passed on to humans:

1. Typhoid fever
2. Bacillary dysentery
3_ Enterobiasis
4. Lymphocytic chonlomenlngltls
5. Paratyphoid fever
6. Amebic dysentery
7. Infectious hepatitis
8. Chemical poisoning

ERYSIPELAS

Erysipelas among pOUltry is most pre\-alent
in turkeys. It is however also found in both
chickens and dUCks. It is a bacterial infec
tion, which in poultry causes general weak
ness, sometimes diarrhea and petechial, or
diffuse hemorrhages in many internal or
gans, and most commonly a deep reddish

purple caruncle. Humans usually contract
this disease through skin scratches and sores
when in contact with Infected pOUltry and
poultry prodUCts.

ORNITHOSIS

Ornithosis Is caused by an Intracellular
parasite. All species of domesticated pOUltry
are susceptible, although the disease is more
prevalent in turkeys. The symptoms In pOUl
try are inflammations in the conjunctivae,
respiratory passages, pericardium, and Intes
tinal tract. 'IJhe disease is better known to
humans under the name of Psittacosis, al
though that name should technically be re
served for a nearly identical disease trans
mitted to man from psittacine birds such
as parrots. Infections In humans occur mostly
as an occupational disease among handlers
of live poUltry. Cases have however also been
reported where the infection has been traced
to noneviscerated poultry purchased by fam
ily households. Infection occurred in these
cases through contamination with intesti
nal contents of the diseased birds.

SALMONELLOSIS

Salmonellosis is conutlon to all species of
domesticated poultry. There are numerous
different serotypes of Salmonella bacteria.
many of which are disease producing. Sal
monella infections in humans are normally
contracted through ingestion. Over the past
several years, 3-500 Salmonella isolations
from humans have been reported per week.
The source of many of these isolations is
never determined. Of those traced to source
of origin, pOUltry and pOUltry products are
frequently Incriminated.

TUBERCULOSIS

Avian tuberculosis Is a disease very simi
lar to tuberculosis in mammals. It is in
poUltry usually contracted through the in
testinal tract and lesions are thus prevalent
in these organs with more infrequent lung
lesions. Tuberculosis in fowl has a protracted
course and it is usually not seen in young
birds. It wl1l eventually lead to emaciation
and the death of the involved animal. Trans
mission to humans usually occurs through
ingestion.

Mr. MONTOYA. Basic to meat and
poultry inspection laws is the authority
and requirement for the condemnation of
adulterated livestock and poultry. The
term "adulterated" encompasses inspec
tion findings of conditions that can be
injurious to human health-and of con
ditions not of themselves specifically
harmful to human health, but never
theless considered unfit for human food
purposes.

Some examples of diseases which can
infect humans either from contact with
a carcass or portion of the carcass, from
consumption, or contamination of other
foods are: tuberculosis, salmonellosis,
ererysipelas, encephalitis, psittacosis, 01'
nithosois; newcastle disease, staphylcoc
cus, and streptococcus infections.

Diseases and conditions are also found
for which no direct causal relationship
with human health can be shown. In
these situations the animal or a part is
condemned on grounds that any diseased
animal or part is not wholesome for hu
man consumption. Here would be in
cluded conditions such as tumors, can
cers, parasitic infections such as round
worms, liver fiukes, sheep tapeworm cysts,
specific infectious diseases such as hog
cholera, caseous lymphadenitis in sheep
and blackhead in turkeys and coccidiosis
in poultry. This too is "adulteration."

The standard for meat, either live
stock or poultry, that has been developed
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through public policy, is that it must be
clean and that it be derived from healthY
animals which are free of disease, abnor
malities and contamination with noxious
substances and filth; that is, bruises, in
juries, emaciation, dead before slaughter,
parasites, healed lesions, and so forth.

This standard is not based on identi
fiable-scientifically established human
health hazards, but on the basic premise
that the consumer would not of free
choice consume a diseased animal nor
feed it to another person as it is unsound
or otherwise unfit for human consump
tion.

Among the diseases which have been
found transmissible from poultry to man,
are some 11 bacterial diseases, six viral
diseases, three fungal diseases, two toxic
illnesses, and four parasitic illnesses.
Eight other diseases may be carried by
poultry and can infect humans.

Mr. President, unless the committee
amendment is deleted or modified, the
condemnation of poultry carrying these
diseases would become impossible with
resultant disastrous results. Mr. Presi
dent, I will await the return of senator
TALMADGE on Monday before suggesting
action on this bill. But I am sure the
language should be changed in order to
effectuate the purpose for which it was
introduced but not have the ramifica
tions that I am afraid would be inimical
to the consumers' interest at the present
time.

Mr. HATFIELD. Mr. President, will
the Senator from New Mexico yield?

Mr. MONTOYA. I yield.
Mr. HATFIELD. I should like to ask a

question or two of the distinguished Sen
ator from New Mexico; but, before doing
so, would like to comment that, as a
member of the committee who has lis
tened and made certain conclusions on
this very important subject, I believe the
Senator from Louisiana [Mr. ELLENDER],
our chairman; the Senator from Flori
da [Mr. HOLLAND], who proposes one of
the amendments; the Senator from Min
nesota [Mr. MONDALE)-for that matter,
everyone on the committee- are seek
ing the same basic goals; namely, to pro
tect the consumer.

As I understand it, it is basically now
a question of the best procedures to fol
low in order to accomplish those goals.

My question to the Senator is this:
Whether it does not really come right
down to the question of how we interpret
the language of Federal and State re
quirements in relation to inspection, that
State programs are at least equal to Fed
eral inspection programs?

Mr. MONTOYA. Yes; that is the tenet
and the purpose of the bill; namely, to
encourage a State inspection system
which will be equal to or excel the Fed
eral system. That is the noble purpose of
the bill. The Senator is right, that the
point of inquiry here is: Does the bill ac
complish that purpose in the consumers'
interest, and if it does not, how can we
improve upon the language in the b,m?

Mr. HATFIELD. How would the Sen
ator from New Mexico interpret the lan
guage "at least equal"? Is this in the
wording of State statutes? Does it in
clude the matter of inspection proce
dure? Does it inclUde, as well, matters of
enforcement? In other words, how do we

interpret the words "at least equal" to
Federal inspection?

Mr. MONTOYA. I believe that there is
general agreement, so far as the commit
tee is concerned, and so far as Congress
is concemed--Congress having consid
ered and enacted the Red Meat Inspec
tion Act of 1967-that equality of in
spection means that the States must
have the kind of mandatory in
spection that would be equal to the Fed
eral laws, and coincident with such par
ticular laws, there must be the same
quality of enforcement. These two things
must coincide and be parallel to the Fed
eral structure before we can say that we
have protected the consumer at the same
level that Federal inspection laws do to
day, or will in the future.

Mr. HATFIELD. If the Senator will
yield further, would the Senator say that
this is a question, then, and a very com
prehensive question, of interpreting
what is equal not only in the language
of the statute but also in matters of in
spection, and in matters of enforcement
and, therefore, that it will take time to
be able appropriately to evaluate the
State laws that we want to detennine as
being equal to the Federal laws?

Mr. MONTOYA. There is no question
about that, because we have very little
experience across the vast landscape with
respect to intrastate inspection under
State laws, because this is an entirely
new field that has come up in the past
few years. In fact, I tell the Senator here,
and will read for the RECORD, that under
the present state of conditions in this
country, we have a few States with man
datory inspections, and a few other States
with voluntary inspections, and we have
States with no poultry inspection laws
at all. Specifically, there are 33 States
with no poultry inspection laws. The only
inspection that is provided in the 33
States I am mentioning is by virtue of
the food and drug laws which have been
passed, and the general authority is there
with respect to food. nut, specifically,
there are no poultry inspection laws in
33 States.

There are five States with voluntary
inspections, and that is oPtional with the
States, and the inspection is optional
with the particular producer. Therefore,
the inspection laws are not adequate in
those States. For all intents and pur
poses, there are at least 38 States which
do not have adequate inspection laws.

Mr. HATFIELD. A further question:
Is it not only a question, then, of getting
laws on the statute books but also a ques
tion of having personnel adequately
trained and geared to the machinery of
State inspection programs that we have
this question that arises now as to the
time factor?

Mr. MONTOYA. The Senator is abso
lutely correct. The State inspection serv
ice over poultry and meat is an entirely
new approach. In fact, the committee re
port of the House of Representatives
states that there are only four active
inspection programs in this country to
day, even though we have mandatory
laws in several other States. There are
only four active -inspection programs in
this country.

Mr. HATFIELD. I understand, then,
that the Senator's feeling is at this time

that until the Federal law is truly in
operation in every respect, until the
States themselves are geared up, it is
premature at this time to start amend
ing the red meat inspection law which
was enacted only recently, actually to
weaken it as it relates to Federal in
spection.

Mr. MONTOYA. Absolutely.
Mr. HATFIELD. Would the Senator

agree, further, that there is today a great
deal of confusion that oftentimes exists
between Federal and State agencies in
the same field of endeavor, and, many
times we hear as a Senator from our
State, as I do from mine, and when I
was formerly Governor .pf Oregon I rec
ognized it, that when a Federal regula
tion or a Federal law is put into effect,
and before the States. have time to get
involved and get geared up, the Federal
Government is accused-and I think
there is substantial evidence that it is
guilty on occasion-of changing that
regulation or law, or amending it, thus
creating a state of confusion which makes
it more difficult for the States really to
comply or move in to a common purpose
and a common program.

Mr. MONTOYA. The Senator from
Oregon is absolutely correct.

Mr. HOLLAND. Mr. President, will the
Senator yield?

Mr. MONTOYA. I yield.
Mr. HOLLAND. In connection with the

same subject that has been discussed in
the colloquy between the distinguished
Senator from New Mexico and the distin
guished Senator from Oregon, is it not
true that the bill makes the secretary of
Agriculture· the sole judge of whether
the law of any particular State and its
enforcement is equal to or better than
the Federal law and its enforcement?

Mr. MONTOYA. That is correct. How
ever, there is this misgiving about that
provision: While the States, on paper,
may have inspection laws equal to the
Federal law, will they be so enforced and
if not, what, if anything, can be done to
protect the consumer from watered down
enforcement once the Secretary of Agri
culture has relinquished his control to
make a positive finding that the method
of enforcement or the method of inspec
tion, across the vast American landscape,
can be standardized, and thus properly
certificate a particular State inspection
system as contemplated by the amend
ment of the Senator from Florida. That
is one of the main points of contention.

Further, the particular provision that
is espoused by the Senator from Florida
has a way of bringing the States into
certification by the Secretary of Agricul
ture provided they have equality of
standards and equality of inspection
procedures and methods of enforcement
thereof. But the Holland amendment
contains no provision to the effect that
the Secretary may· later remove those
certifications.

Mr. HOLLAND. The Senator has not
read the bill carefully, because the bill
provides that the Secretary has the com
plete right, and it shall be his duty, to
remove recognition which he has previ
ously given to a State system and its en
forcement, in the event he finds that the
standards do not remain up to or equal
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to or better than equal to Federal stand
ards.

Mr. MONTOYA. I am fully aware of
that provision; but that provision re
quires the Secretary of Agriculture.un
del' certain circumstances which are
alien to this particular provision. to
give the States 30 days' notice to change
the conditions in a certain plan; other
wise. Federal inspection will step in. Af
ter that due notice, if the State fails.
then there must. be publication for an
additional 30 days. Then there might be
some kind of court procedure, in addi
tion to that, if the State still refuses. In
the meantime. there is at least a 60-day
lapse during which meat is being moved
in interstate commerce. affecting the
consumers of this country. That lapse
can be dangerous to the consumers.

Mr. MONDALE. Mr. President. will the
Senator yield?

Mr. MONTOYA. I yield to the Senator
,from Minnesota.

Mr. MONDALE. Under the Wholesome
Meat Act of 1967. if a plant now under
a State system wishes to market its pro
duction interstate-that is, nationally
may it not do so by immediately rejoin
ing the Federal system today?

Mr. MONTOYA. That is correct.
Mr. MONDALE. So that if there is a

plant that wants a national market now.
it has a full and complete remedy avail-
able to it? .

Mr. MONTOYA. That is correct.
Mr. HOLLAND. Mr. President, will the

Senator yield?
Mr. MONTOYA. I yield to the Senator

from Florida.
Mr. HOLLAND. Is it not true that a

provision of the bill-and this is also
true in the case of the Wholesome Meat
Act-permits the Federal Government
to pay portions of the inspection costs
and enforcement costs up to 50 percent
of the total in the event the SecretarY
has found the enforcement is at least
equal to the Federal enforcement? And,
does it not provide that when he finds
that is not the case, he has the right to
call off that Federal contribution to the
expense of the enforcement?

Mr. MONTOYA. The Secretary may
offer up to 50 percent to the States as
a contribution for the enforcement of
the State inspection system. That is
basic in this law, and it is basic in the
Red Meat Inspection Act. The additional
provision to which the Senator from
Florida refers. I do not at this time
recall.

Mr. HOLLAND. Well, the Senator will
find in the bill that the Secretary has a
right to discontinue the contributions to
the enforcement costs. just as he has the
right to call off recognition.

Mr. MONTOYA. If there is failure of
enforcement.

Mr. HOLLAND. Yes; if the enforce
ment is not equal to or better than Fed
eral inspection. he has the right to call
it off. So that additional weight is given
to the secretary's powers in this matter.

I happen to know, as chairman of the
subcommittee handling agricultural ap
propriations, that already we have in
creased this year the Federal payment
for this purpose in order that we can now
help the States to reach this "at least
equal to" performance. As a matter of

fact, they are asking far more than we
granted.

I just want the record to show we have
imposed upon the Secretary the duty
that if States at first meet the Federal
standards and have a law and enforce
ment that are at least equal to Federal
enforcement, he first can make the allot
ment of the Federal funds up to 50 per
cent of the cost; and then, if the State
fails in its enforcement. he can call it
oiI. That is exactly what he should do.

lt looks to me like my distinguished
friend has little confidence in the atti
tUde of the Secretary of Agriculture or
in his employees, who. by this law, are
given the right to go into every plant, in
to any plant, and check any aspect of en
forcement, check on enforcement in the
field, where the consumers' interest is
affected, which is not permitted state
inspected products if the product goes
beyond the State lines. And the Secretary
has the power to cut off that contribu
tion of up to 50 percent of the cost in the
way of Federal funds, which is given
only if the State law has been found by
the Secretary to be equal to the Federal
law and if the enforcement of the law
has been found equal to Federal en
forcement.

Mr. MONTOYA. May I say to my good
friend from Florida that I do not think
he and I disagree on what we are trying
to accomplish. I want to say for the rec
ord here that I do not mean to impugn
the motives of my good friend from
Florida or of any member of the com
mittee with respect to their individual
stand on this particular provision which
the Senator from FIOlida has offered in
committee and which is now part of the
bill. However, I have great concern, may
I say to my friend from Florida,
that, because of the experience we have
had, the consumer is not going to be as
fully protected as he would be under the
Federal-State relationship which is
threaded through the red meat inspec
tion act which we adopted last year.

In my opinion. I think the amendment
offered by the Senator from Florida di
lutes the noble purpose that we have in
mind, and I think it opens the back door
for the opportunity for unscrupulous
dealers in meat to invade the channels
of interstate commerce with a State in
spection level which is permissible under
the amendment the Senator from Florida
has offered as part of this bill.

That is one of my great concerns, and
I intend to discuss the specifics of it in
my discussion of the so-called Holland
amendment.

Mr. President, I would like to discuss
the specifics of the Holland amendment.
I am sorry to take up so much time on
this, but I think it is a very important
element in our consideration of thl:: bill.

AMENDMENT NO. 911

On behalf of myself, Senator MON
DALE, Senator MCGOVERN, Senator HAT
FIELD, Senator CLARK, and Senator FONG,
I have proposed an amendment, which
is at the desk, dealing with the so-called
Holland amendment. I ask that it be
called up at this time.

The PRESIDING OFFICER. The
Chair \\ishes to inquire of the Senator
whether that is No.1 or No.2.

Mr. MONTOYA. It Is No.3.

The PRESIDING OFFICER. No.3. The
clerk will state the amendment.

The LEGISLATIVE CLERK. It is proposed.
on page 63, beginning with line 7. strike
out all down through line 17.

On page 91, beginning wIth line 13,
strike out all down through line 13 on
page 92.

On page 92, line 14, stlike out "SEC.
21" and insert in lieu thereof "SEC. 20".

On page 9jl, line 20, strike out "SEC.
22" and insert in lieu thereof "SEC. 21".

The PRESIDING OFFICER. Are those
amendments to be considered en bloc?

Mr. MONTOYA. The ones I have just
called up I ask unanimous consent be
considered en bloc.

The PRESIDING OFFICER. Without
objection, it is so ordered.

Mr. MONTOYA. Mr. President, I have
two other amendments at the desk, ap
plying to the so-called Talmadge provi
sion and the so-called Aiken exemption
provision in the present bill. I ask unani
mous consent that they be ordered to be
printed and lie at the desk.

The PRESIDING OFFICER. The
amendments will be received and printed,
and will lie at the desk.

Mr. MONTOYA. Mr. President, I ask
unanimous consent that they be printed
at this point in the RECORD.

The amendments referred to were
ordered to be printed in the RECORD, as
follows:

On page 46, after the period In line 15,
strike out all down through the period in
line 18.

On page 77, beginning with line 3, strike
out all down through line 15 on page 79,
and Insert in lieu thereof the foHowing:

"(c) (1) The secretary shaH, by regulation
and under such concUtions, including sani
tary standards, practices. and procedures. as
he may prescribe, exempt from specific pro
visions of this Act--

"(A) the slaughtering by any person of
poultry of his own raising, and the process
ing by him and transportation in commerce
of the pOUltry products exclusively for use
by him and members of his household and
his nonpaying guests and employees;

"(B) the custom slaughter by any person
of pouitry delivered by the owner thereof
for such slaughter, and the processing by
such slaughterer and transportation in com
merce of the pOUltry products exclusively for
use, in the household of such owner, by bim
and members of his bousehold and his non
paying guests and employees: Provided, That
such custom slaughtered does not engage in
the business of buying or selllng any poultry
products capable of use as human food;

"(C) the slaughtering and processing of
poultry prodUCts in any State or Territory
or the District of Columbia by any poultry
producer on his own premises with respect
to sound and healthy poultry raised on his
premises and the distribution by any person
solely within such jurisdiction of the pOUltry
products derIved from such operations. if. in
lleu of other labeling requirements. such
pOUltry prodUCts are identified with the name
and address of such poultry producer. and
if they are not otherwise misbranded. and are
sound. clean. and fit for human food when
so distributed; and

"(D) the slaughtering of sound and healthy
pOUltry or the processing of poultry products
of such pOUltry in any State or Territory or
the DistrIct of Columbia by any poultry pro
ducer or other person for cUstribution by
him solely within such jurisdiction directly
to household consumers, restaurants, hotels.
and boarding houses, for use in their own
cUning rooms or in the preparation of meals
for sales direct to consumers, if. in !leu of
other labeling requirements. such poultry
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products are Identified with the name and
address Of the processor, and 1! they are not
otherwise misbranded and are sound, clean,
and fit for human food when distributed by
such processor.
The exemptions provided for in clauses (e)
and (D) above shall not apply if the poultry
producer or other person engages in the cur
rent calendar year in the business of buying
or selling any poultry or poUltry prodUCts
other than as specified in such clauses or if
the number of head of poUltry process~d by
him in the current calendar year exceeds
such Ilmlts as the secretary may by regula
tion prescribe, consistent with subparagraph
(3), as appropriate to avoid a requirement of
inspection of processing operations of such
a size that the cost of furnishing inspection
would be excessive in relation to the volume
processed or the rendering of inspection
would otherwise be Impracticable.

"(2) In addition to the specific exemptions
provided herein, the Secretary shall, when he
determines that the protection of consumers
from adulterated or misbranded poultry
products will not be Impaired by such action,
prOVided by regulation, consistent with sub
paragraph (3), for the exemption of the op
eration and products of small enterprises
(inclUding poUltry producers) , not exempted
under subparagraph (1), which are engaged
in any State or Territory or the District of
Columbia in slaughtering and/or cutting up
poultry for distribution as carcasses or parts
thereof solely for distribution within such
jurisdiction, from such provisions of this Act
as he deems appropriate, while still protect
Ing the pUblic from adulterated or mis
branded products, under such conditions, in
cluding sanitary requirements, as he shall
prescribe to effectuate the purposes of this
Act.

"(3) No exemption under subparagraph
(1) (A) or (B) or subparagraph (2) shall
apply to any poUltry producer or other person
who slaughters or processes the prodUCts of
more than 4,000 turkeys or an eqUivalent
number of poultry of all species in the cur
rent calendar year (4.5 birds of other species
being deemed the equivalent of one turkey).

"(d) The adulteration and misbranding
provisions of this Act, other than the re
quirement of the inspection legend, shall
apply to articles which are exempted from
Inspection under this section, except as
otherwise specified under paragraphs (a) and
(c) ..'

Mr. MONTOYA. Mr. President, the
committee very unwisely adopted an
amendment which not only undercuts
the effectiveness of the new provisions
to the Poultry Products Inspection Act
which we are presently considering, but
also undermines the existing Federal
poultry inspection program, and would
render meaninglellS all of the countless
man-hours that went into the adoption
of the Wholesome Meat Act of last year.

Mr. President, the blll we have before
us contains provisions which would
amend both the Poultry Products In
spection Act and the Wholesome Meat
Act to permit the movement in inter
state commerce of both meat and pOul
try prodUCts processed under State in
spection at any establishment in a state
under requirements which the Secretary
determines are at least equal to those
under the Federal act. In addition, such
products may be brought into and used
III a federally inspected establishment.
. Subsection 5(c) (5) of S. 2932, provides
III substance that poultry products
processed under State inspection at any
establishment in any State not made
subject to Federal inspection under re-

q?h"ements at least equal to those pro
VIded for Federal inspection would be
eligible for distribution in interstate
commerce, the same as pOultry products
receiving Federal inspection.

The House considered a similar pre
vision and wisely voted to delete it from
the House-passed bill, H.R. 16363. Con
sumer group, industry organizations
and labor unions, all opposed this pro~
vision in testimony before the Livestock
and Grains Subcommittee. They said it
would endanger the present Federal in
spection program and threaten the uni
formity of inspection.

In testifying before the House Sub
committee on Livestock and Grains
Representative NEAL SMITH, who I un~
derstand was one of the authors and
introducers of the bill, recommended de
letion of this provision from H.R. 15146.
I quote from his statement appearing in
the House hearings on pages 2 and 3:

If left in the bill, this prOVision would
permit nonfederally inspected pOUltry from
plants In States which had qualified for
Federal funds to be sold in interstate com
merce. TillS provision is not in the Red Meat
Act and I understand it was added to the
pOUltry bill, as recommended by the De
partment, at the request of some State secre
taries of agriculture.

When a State meets Federal standards and
has an enforcement program at least equal to
the Federal program they are removed from
the list of States where intrastate plants will
be federally inspected; however, they could
become lax for several months before they
can be placed back on the list. This Is be
cause section 5(c) (3) provides that reinstat
ing Federal inspection shall only be after a
30-day notice and publication in the Federal
register. By the time Federal Inspection could
be reinstated, millions of pounds of contami
nated pOUltry products could have moved
all over the United States or the world. The
constant possibility that this would be oc
curring could hurt both our domestic and
foreign markets for poultry.

If pOUltry from these plants were to move
in interstate commerce, the very least that
should be provided is a continUing review by
Federal Inspectors of the •whole operations
within the State and authority to reinstate
Federal Inspection instantly if the State fell
below the Federal standards. That kind of
prOVision, I think, would create such great
friction when applied, and be so costly and
disrupting, that it seems to me the added
language should simply be eliminated.

Mr. President, I was heartened by the
fact that the House had taken Repre
sentative SMITH'S advice. Congressman
SMITH, one of the proponents of a strong
and effective meat inspection act last
year did much to contribute to the excel
lent piece of legislation which finally be
c!lme law. So he is not without qualifica
tIons to speak on the' subject.

While this measure was before the
House, another strongly consumer
oriented Representative, who likewise
contributed to the success of the Whole
some Meat Act last year, Representative
TOM .~OLEY, of Washington, opposed this
prOVISIon. In the House committee re
pOrt, Representative FOLEY had this to
say about the House decision to delete
this provision:

The provision would have given a blank
check to State programs which are untried
in fact, to ones which do not even exist right
now. While these programs are to be "at least
equal" to the Federal one. according to the

bill, there are bound to be variations in ac
tual practice. In fact, one large industry trade
association warned the committee that if tws
provision were to stay in the b1ll, then firma
must have to decide Whether each of their
individual plants which ship across State
lines shOUld be under Federal or State in
spection.

On this point, during the hearings be
fore the Senate Subcommittee on Agri
cultural Research and General Legisla
tion, Mr. Vic Pringle, representing the
Institute of American Poultry Industries,
appeared to testify on this point. I might
state for the RECORD, Mr. President that
the institute is a 40-year-old nonprofit
national association, representing all
segments of the poultry and egg indus
tries. Its members process and market
the major share of the Nation's chickens,
turkeys, ducks, and other poultry. In
addition, their membership includes pro
ducers, breeders, hatcherymen, and
allied interests.

Mr. Pringle testified as follows, as
shown on page 243 of the Senate hear
ings:

Nevertheless, if the committee should
adopt a program which would provide for
mUlti-Inspection programs as provided by
S. 2032, including the prOVisions of section
5 (c) 5 which permits interstate shipment, we
believe it necessary for the bUl to make it
clear that a plant presently under Federal
inspection, but located in a. State which es
tablishes a State system as provided in this
bill, Will have the election of opera.tlng under
the State system if it so desires.

Mr. President, what we would have
as this testimony clearly points out:
would be competition between the Fed
eral and the State programs and be
tween the States themselves on which
can attract more clients. Unscrupulous
producers and processors would shop
around for the states with the least rigid
enforcement practices where they could
establish planits free from the effective
Federal iJ¥>Pection. The end result
would be unwholesome and adulterated
meat and poultry products flowing to
every table in this country. This can
not be tolerated. If there is even one
hint that this would be done, Congress
would be remiss in even thinking about
such a proposal as is now contained in
S. 2932. The primary issue to which we
must address ourselves to here today is
consumer protection.

And, Mr. President, this would not be
limited to pOultry products. As I have
already stated, the provision as con
tained in the bill' adds section 20 to S.
2932 and would amend the Wholesome
Meat Act to inCOrpOrate comparable
provisions in that act.

Mr. President, in January of this year
the U.S. Department of Agriculture did
a survey of nonfederally inspected pOul
try plants. Reports were prepared jointly
by the USDA and the states on condi
tions in nonfederally inspected plants.
My staff prepared a summary of the
kinds of situations these repOrts reflect.
In addition, inspection personnel ex
perienced in these matters were inter
viewed in order to be more precise as to
the conditions actually found. I would
like to relate to my colleagues some of
the conditions which these reports re
vealed:
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Only a few of the plants surveyed fully
met minimum Federal sanitation re-
quirements. .

Approximately one-third need major
changes, one-third minor changes, and
one-third could be considered basically
in compliance with the Poultry Products
Inspection Act standards.

The sanitary conditions iIi many of
the nonfederally inspected poultry plants
were so bad that production of sanitary
product was impossible.

Wood fioors, cracked, leaking, and
soaked with blood, meat juices, and water
exuded a sour odor and could never be
adequatelY cleaned. Many concrete fioors
were pitted, worn, and eroded so that
pools of blood water were common in
areas where food products were being
processed. Many of the fioor drains were
untrapped with the result that sewer gas
and other odors of decomposing meat
and blood Were present in the processing
rooms.

In many instances, windows and doors
were not screened or kept closed with
the result that flies could move freely

from the filthy and decomposing poultry
carcasses, feathers, and manure into the
processing room where product was being
prepared for food.

Accumulations of rubbish, junk, ma
nure, and rotting chicken parts around
the outside of the plant were infested
with rodents which also had free access
to move over tables, other equipment,
and product when the plant was not in
operation. It is well known that rodents
always contaminate with urine and feces
wherever they have access.

Because of inadequate ventilation and
the crowding of operations, feces, dust,
and feathers from live birds were present
in the processing rooms and contaminat
ing the poultry meat. Rough ceilings and
moisture condensation on ceilings and
walls resulted in the growth of mold and
accumulation of dust, dirt, scaling paint,
and other filth which was a constant
source of contamination of product.

In many instances, there were no facil
ities for producing hot water or steam
and it was obvioUS that the plant facili
ties had never been adequately cleaned.
Picking rooms and equipment were un-

believably filthy and stinking with ac
cumulation from months of operations
never being completely removed.

In many cases, there were no hand
washing facilities so that employees who
used the toilet facilities were unable to
wash their handf> before handling prod
uct. Also soiling of the hands from feath
ers, feces, or diseased conditions, includ
ing pus and Jnfectious materials could
not be adequafely removed from the em
ployee'S hands.

Poultry carcasses and meat were being
cut up and handled on the tables and
other equipment made of wood which
was water and blood soaked. Thick ac
cumulations of fat and meat juices, sour
and decomposing were often seen on this
equipment.

Mr. President, I ask unanimous con
sent to have some materials printed at
this point in the RECORD listing condi
tions in intrastate plants that have been
designated to state omcials as endanger
ing health.

There being no objection, the material
was ordered to be printed in the RECORD,
as follows:

INTRASTATE PLANTS THAT HAVE BEEN DESIGNATED TO STATE OFFICIALS AS ENOANGERING PUBLIC HEALTH, FROM JAN. I, 1968, TO JULY 26, 1968

State and address 01 plant Type of operation Reason lor action Followup action

Do.

Do.

Closed by State program director

Corrective inspection procedures instituled by the State
officials.

Corrective inspection procedures instituted by the State
officials.

Arizona: Casa Grande (included in 1962 Siaughtering ._. __ Failure to control insects and vermins. Lack of environ- Corrective inspectional procedure instituted.
survey). mental sanilation. Insanitary handling 01 meat and

meat byproducls.
Arizona: Mesa do •__ • . . . __ Failur. to control insects. Insanitary procedures used in

manufacturing products. Lack of environmental sani
tation.

Arizona: Tucson .do .. • Failure 10 conlrol inedible and condemned producls. Lack
01 environmental sanitation. Insanitary procedures
used in manufacturing product.

Connecticut: Plainfield do Failure to control condemned, diseased carcasses which Immediately closed by State officials.
. had been marked inspecteo and passed. Spoiled meat

byproducts present in cooler.
Delaware: Dover Slaughtering and processing . __ __ Nonpotable water (contaminated> being used in producing

~roducts lor human consumptIon.
Idaho: Coeur d'Alene • • ._do • . Failure to properly control inedible and condemned

products.
Idaho: Klngston_•• • Slaughtering and sausage processing_ Improper control of condemned animals. Lack of pro!,er

enVIronmental sanitation. Improper control 01 inedIble
and condemned products.

Idaho: Wallace_.... . • Wholesale slaughtering and proc· Lack 01 proper environmental sanitation. Lack 01 control Do.
essing. 01 inedible and condemned. Insanilary procedures used

in manufacturing product
Idaho: Idaho Falls .. Slaughtering and processing Lack of proper environmental sanitation________________ Do.

Iflfn':::;:R~fh~~lira:=::::::: ::::::::::=:-si.-u:~terjiig:::::::::::::::::::::::::::~~:::::::::::::::: =: ::::::::::::::::::::::::::= A pPa~t closed by State program direclor.
Michigan: DetroiL.. ._ Processing. ------ ---- -. __ do.. -- -- ------ ---- -- ------ --- ---- --- -- ------ --- co:~:ct~~:n~c~~~u~s~:~~Ut~~s0~~~~~e3uf~~e~~~~:~

inspection.
Michigan: Richmond (included in 1967 Slaughtering and processing Insanitary handling of product. Lack of proper environ- Closed by State officials.

survey). mental sanitation.
Michigan: Iron River (included in 1967 • do Insanilary handling of product. Lack 01 environmental State officials have Instituted corrective inspectional pro,

survey). sanitation. Lack of control of inedible and condemned cedures and have had the plant correct and change
products. facilities and equipment to alleviate sanitary defi·

. ciencies.
New Hampshire: Goffstown Slaughtering and retail store Nonpotable water (conlaminated) being used in pro- Discontinued slaughter operations as a result of State

ducing products for human consumption. corrective action. Source of water to retail operations
converted to new source.

Nevada: Reno ProcesslnJ • Improper environmental sanitation Plant closed temporarily to nitiate a cleanup.
Nevada: Elko Slaughtering and processing Failure to control condemned and inedible producls. In- Corrective inspectional procedures instituted by the

sanitary procedures used in manufacturing products. State officials.Nevada: Gardnervllle_. •__ •• __ • do • •_.do . ____ __ ___ Do.
Nevada: Las Vegas ~ Processing ~ Improper environmental sanitation. Lack of conlro(oi" Do.

condemned and inedible producls.
Pennsylvania: Dalton Siaughtering Failure to properly control condemned product.. ___ State program director instituted corrective inspection

Pennsylvania: Johnstown (included in do Improper environmental sanitation____________________ pr8~:dures as well as providing increased supervision.
1962 survey).

Utah: Leh!.. Processing Lack of control of insects and vermins. Improper environ- Immediale corrective action was taken by the State
. mental sanitation. Insanitary handling of producl. officials and have increased inspection coverage.

Utah: Salt Lake Clty do .. Improper environmental sanitation. Insanitary handling Do.
of product.

Utah: VernaL : __ Slaughtering and processing Lack of proper environmental sanitation ._ . Corrective inspection procedures instituted by Slale
officials. Inspection coverage has been increased.

mf~mgr:~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~n~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~
Mr. MONTOYA. Mr. President, these

are not examples from a 'science fiction
novel. .Neither are they citations from
Upton Sinclair's book, "The Jungle,"
which was quoted so widely during the

discussion on the Wholesome Meat Act
last year. These are not examples of the
conditions which existed in the red meat
industry prior to passage of the Whole
some Meat Act. They are examples of

the very conditions which are prevalent
today-right this minute-in the non
federally inspected plants of this· coun
try.

Plants were surveyed in the states of
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Alabama, California, Florida, Georgia,
Louisiana, Mississippi, Missouri, North
Carolina, Ohio, South Carolina, Texas,
and Tennessee. Production in the sur
veyed plants ranged in volume from 50
to 500,000 birds per week.

Certainly poultry and poultry products
prepared under these conditions are
highly contaminated. They are so repul
sive that should consumers of this Na
tion have any idea of the primitive con
ditions under which the product was
prepared, they would never pick up an
other piece of poultry again except to
chuck it out the back door for the vul
tures.

Mr. President, I cite these examples
not as a condemnation of the poultry in
dustry of this country for they have been
very responsible in trying to enact a bill
which would truly give the consumers of
this Nation the protection from adulter
ated poultry products they deserve. The
poultry industry of this country, in gen
eral, supports 100 percent the deletion of
the provision which I seek to delete. I
will cite specific endorsements on behalf
of the industry in support of my efforts
here today. However, I do cite these ex
amples of the filthy conditions discov
ered within the nonfederally inspected
plants to illustrate the crying need to not
only strengthen the State programs but
to do all we can to see that Federal in
spection is not diluted. My amendment
would insure that the consumer is fully
protected.

I know it will be argued that the pro
visions of this bill would not become
fully operative until the State programs
meet requirements which the Secretary
of Agriculture determines are at least
equal to those of the Federal program.
To this I would say, Mr. President, let us
look at the record of State laws today:
Only 13 States have mandatory inspec
tion for wholesomeness and of these only
four have active programs; five States
have mandatory inspection laws for
spot check, sanitation, or general food
laws; five States have voluntary inspec
tion programs; two States have Federal
State agreements; one State could not
even refer the Department of Agriculture
officials to anyone in the State house
who could even answer the questions
asked; and 24 States have no law other
than spot check, health control, or gen
eral food law.

I am further informed by the Depart
ment of Agriculture that none of these
would even begin to meet the Federal
standards. After all these years and the
states have failed to move to perfect
their poultry inspection systems.

Let us assume for the sake of argu_
ment that one State did qualify and met
all the Federal requirements both on
paper and in practice. How.. would we the
consumers know that that' State did not
revert back to its original loose laws?
We would not unless we required con
tinued costly surveillance on the part of
the Secretary of Agriculture to insure
that they did not slack off on their en
forcement. And what could be done if a
State qualified for interstate shipment
and then fell down in its enforcement or
deleted its laws. Probably nothing.

Mr. President, I do not wish my re-

marks to be interpreted as a witch hunt
against the State inspection sYstems.
There is no one in this Chamber that
has worked any harder then I to estab
lish a truly Federal-State cooperative at
mosphere. The Wholesome Meat Act of
last year was in this vein. I struggled to
preserve the Federal-State relationship
by opposing complete federalization of
the meat inspection program. And I
might say I struggled successfully. The
fruits of that struggle are now beginning
to be felt. Again this year when we had
before the committee legislation which
would have completely federalized the
poultry inspection system, I opposed
them and insisted that we preserve our
Federal-State system and give the States
their due recognition. .

However, by the same token, Mr. Presi
dent, let us recognize where the true lines
of division ought to be made. If we are
to have a Federal-State system. Let us
leave to the Federal Government that
which is truly within their constitutional
jurisdiction; namely, control over inter
state commerce. And, let us leave to the
States that which has been traditionally
been left to their policing; namely, intra
state commerce.

This is a two-way street. If we are to
protect against complete Federal in
fringement, then let us be as vigorous in
our defense against State involvement in
traditionally and constitutionally Feder
aldomain.

Mr. President, I would like to read ex
cerpts from a letter which was written
by Mr. E. H. Flitton, vice president of one
of our large meatpacking plants in this
country, George A. Hormel & Co., to illus
trate that what I say is not idle thinking.
This is a letter dated July 12, 1968, and
addressed to the Honorable Harold Le
Vander, Governor of Minnesota. It reads
as follows:

JULY 12, 1968.
Han. HAROLD LEVANDER,
Governor 0/ Minnesota,
St. PaUl, Minn.

My DEAR GOVERNOR: I read With consider
able interest the story in last Tuesday's paper
about discussions held at the Midwest Gov
ernors' Conference regarding the new Federal
Meat Inspection Act.

At this time, I cannot speak for your entire
Advisory Committee; but, as one member
representing the Harmel Company, would
like to respectfUlly advise you of our position
regarding any efforts to have the Federal
government allow state Inspected meat to
ship In interstate commerce even though the
state Inspection Act, when it Is hopefUlly
passed, wllI meet with the approval of
U.S.D.A. regulations for state meat Inspec
tion programs on a cooperative basis.

We think that this would be wrong In
principle. Since Federal Inspection Is avail
able upon application, we think that estab
lishments desiring to ship Interstate should
be required to meet the higher Federal stand
ards.

Our concern is that the state cooperative
program wlll not be as stringent in regulat
ing the smalIer plants as the U.S.D.A. is In
regulating plants Who ship interstate. State
inspection laws to be approved for Imple
mentation by the U.S.D.A. over all meat
slaughtering and meat processing will re
quire that Federal standards be met with
respect to formulations but that Federal
standards, with respect to facilities, will
probably not have to be observed.

As we see it, the only reason that a plant
wishing to ship on an interstate basis would

not· apply :tor Federal inspection would be
to avoid spending .the monies necessary 1;0
accommodate its facilities to the rigid stand
ards reqUired' by the U.S.D.A. but not re
quired by' the state l8.w.

It the state standards are adequate to
protect the public health in Interstate com
merce, ~n it would seem that the higher
Federal standards m1ght be thought to be
unnecessary. We believe that all of us who
sell across state lines ought to play the
game uniformly according to the same set
Of rules and regUlations.

Since we now understand that your posi
tion and that of COmmissioner SChwandt
differ from ours on this Issue, we wanted to
respectfully express our views to you.

COrdially yours,
, E. H. F'L!TTON.

Mr. President, I have gone on at length
and I beg my colleagues indulgence for
just a few more moments. However, I feel
so strongly that our meat and poultry
inspection systems will be eroded and
consumer protection so adversely affected
that I feel it incumbent to fight these
particular provisions in the bill with
every ounce of strength I can muster.

Mr. President, it has come to my at
tention that the major meat processors
have underway major construction
changes, inclUding alteration, remodel
ing, and modernization in their existing
intrastate processing plants. This as a
result of the requirements of the Whole
some Meat Act. The result of such up
dating will be better consumer protec
tion and will in the end be to the credit
of the industry. However, should the pro
visions which I seek to delete be per
mitted to remain in the bill, the tendency
of these plants will, I am informed, to
forget about the modernization of their
plants until they see what the states are
going to do. If they feel they can operate
within a State without updating their
plants and still qualify for shipping in
interstate commerce, then their modern
izing plans, which is costing them money,
will be disposed of in the wastebasket.
The end result will be that the consumer
will suffer the consequences.

It is important to note, too, that we
are talking about a multibillion-dollar
industry. The industry itself supports my
position for they recognize that otherwise
they would be exposed to sheer confu
sion. There would be variations in the
provisions of the laws from State to State
and between the State and the Federal
programs. The eventual cost to the in
dustry to operate under such a variation
of laws would be crippling. This in turn
would be crippling to our economy. I
emphasize, Mr. President, this is no sim
ple proposition with which we are toying
here today.

Not only would the industry itself be
confused, but think of the effect on the
poor consumer. When the consumer went
to purchase meat or poultry, she would
not know whether that product was proc
essed in the best of sanitary conditions
or in the worst. She would be confused,
hurt, and downright frustrated.

Mr. President, in closing, I would like
to insert for the record a number of en
dorsements of my efforts as well as a
number of other materials which I think
should clarify for our colleagues as to
what groups are supporting my position.
I think it will become clear that appar-
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ently only one group stands behind the
attempts to keep these undesirable
amendments in the bill.

As I have stated before, the poultry
industry as a whole wishes me every suc
cess. I referred earlier to the Institute
of American Poultry Industries, a 40
year-old, nonprofit national association,
representing all segments of the poultry
and egg industlies, has testified in sup
port of deleting the very section which
I seek to delete. Their testimony before
the Senate Committee may be found on
pages 240-248 of the hearings. I quote
from their testimony on page 243, when
referring to the House action ill deleting
a similar provision from the House
passed bill:

We commend the House for leaVing out
that prOvision in Its blll, H.R. 16363.

Their representatives have also been
by to see me personally and express their
support.

I have a telegram from the National
Broiler Council, the national organiza
tion which represents the broiler pro
ducers of this Nation, which I read into
the RECORD:

WASHINGTON, D.C.,
July 26, 1968.

Senator JOSEPH M. MONTOYA,
Senate Office BUilding,
Washington, D.O.:

Strongly urge you support passage of pOUl
try inspection blll with Montoya amendments
on exemptions and deleting section 5-0-5 so
that only chicken from federally inspected
plants could move in interstate commerce.

FRANK FRAZIER,
Executive Vice President, National

Broiler Oouncil.

I have a letter from Mr. Andrew J.
Biemiller, director, Department of Legis
lation, American Federation of Labor
and Congress of Industrial Organizations,
urging Senators to back my position. Mr.
President, I ask unanimous consent that
this letter be printed in the RECORD.

There being no objection, the letter
was ordered to be printed in the RECORD,
as follows:

AMERICAN FEDERATION OF LABOR
AND CONGRESS OF INDUSTRIAl.
ORGANIZATIONS,

Washington, D.C.
DEAR SENATOR: The AFL-CIO strongly

supports strong, effective poultry inspection
legislation. As you know, the AFL-CIO
wholeheartedly supported the meRt inspec
tion law enacted in the 1967 session of the
90th Congress.

Unfortunately, three changes made by the
Senate Agriculture Committee in the House
passed poUltry inspection blll, H.R. 16363,
would seriously undermine and weaken vital
conSUDler protection programs. They would
even jeopardize ttle existing meat and poul
try inSpection program and they would make
the proposed pOUltry inspection program
worse than Ineffective.

One change would require an impossible
burden of proof for condemnation of unfit
poultry prodUCts.

A second change--weakenlng both meat
and pOUltry inspection programs--would
undermine present federal inspection by per
mitting state-inspected plants to ship poul
try prodUCts into interstate commerce.

A third change widens an unfortunate
exemption In the House-passed blll to allow
mlllions of pounds of poultry to go into
Intra-state and Interstate commerce without
any inspection tor wholesomeness and
sanitation.

We urge you to oppose these three provi
sions. Without these three amendments, the
bill approved by the Senate AgriCUlture
Committee will protect consumers effec
tively, but If these amendments are kept,
the new pOUltry Inspection blll would be a
big step backward and would seriously harm
con~umers. -

Sincerely yours,
ANDREW J. BIEMILLER,

Director. Department 01 Legislation.

Mr. MONTOYA. Mr. President, I ask
unanimous consent to have printed at
this point in the RECORD a letter of sup
port from Mr. Thomas J. Lloyd, interna
tional president, and Mr. Patrick E. Gor
man, international secretary-treasurer,
Amalgamated Meat Cutters & Butcher
workmen of North America. This, as you
know. Mr. President, is the union repre
senting those individuals employed in the
industry which would be affected by this
bill.

There being no objection, the letter was
ordered to be printed in the RECORD, as
follows:

AMALGAMATED MEAT CUTTERS &
BUTCHER WORKMEN OF NORTH
AMERICA,

Chicago, Ill ... Ju.ly 24, 1968.
Hon. EDMUND S. MUSKIE,
U.S. Senate,
Washington, D.O.

DEAR SENATOR 'MUSKIE: The federal meat
and poultry inspection programs are now in
great jeopardy because of some amendments
which the Senate Agriculture Committee
added to the House-passed poultry illilpectlon
blll. Instead of simply increasing consumer
protection, H.R. 16363, as amended, would ac
tually curtall the consumer-protective effec
tiveness of the present federal pOUltry and
meat inspection programs.

One amendment would require that con
demnation of unfit poultry "must be sup
ported by substantial scientific fact" that the
bird "is Injurious for huma,n consumption."
As a resUlt, an inspector would probably
have to approve cancerous poUltry because
"substantial scientific fact" does not exist
that the poultry cancer can be transmitted to
humans. Or he could not condemn birds con
taining fecal matter or other filth because
there Is no "substantial scientific fact" that
It "is injuriouS for human consumption."

Another amendment would permit pOUltry
and meat which was inspected by a state pro
gram to be shipped into interstate commerce.
As a result, the present federal meat and
poultry Inspection system would have to com
pete with the less rigorous state programs for
plants to Inspect. Eventually, the state and
federal programs would have to bid on the
basis of who would provide the more lenient
Inspection.

Congress has gone as far as it can in the
legislation to provide that the state programs
be "at least equal" to the federal one. But
that hardly means that the state programs
would provide equally effective regUlations
and enforcement in every aspect of Inspec
tion. There certainly will be variations from
state to state and between states and the fed
eral program depending upon the polItical
situation in each state.

A third amendment increases an unfor
tunate exemption already contained in the
House bill. Under this provision, plants ship
ping tens of mlllions of pounds of pOUltry
annually into Intra-state and Inter-state
commerce would be exempted not only from
inspection for Wholesomeness, but also from
any sort of sanitation control.

We respectfUlly urge that you oppose these
three provisions. If they are kept In the
blll, then H.R. 16363 wlll be extremely harm
ful to consumers--instead of increasing pro
tection for them. We repeat: these provi-

sions would damage not only any new pro
gram, but would also hurt eXisting meat and
poultry inspection.

Without these three amendments, the bill
would be siIn1lar to the Wholesale Meat Act
of 1967. It would be a strong, meaningfUl
and effective addition to the consnmer
protective legislation Which the 90th Con
gress has writte):l into law.

Very trUly yours.
THOMAS J. LLOYD,
Internatlonal Presidell t .

i PATRICK E. GORMAN,
In ter ria tional Secretary-Treasurer

Mr. MONTOYA. Mr. Daniel S. Bedell,
legislative representative. International
Union, United Automobile, Aerospace &
Aglicultural Implement Workers of
America, has expressed the support of
his multimillion-member organization
and I ask unanimous consent to have
his letter made a part of the RECORD at
this point.

There being no objection. the letter
was ordered to be printed in the RECORD,
as follows: '

INTERNATIONAL UNION, UNITED Au
TOMOBILE, AEROSPACE & AGRICUL
TURAL IMPLEMENT WORKERS OF
AMERICA-UAW,

Washington, D.C.. JUly 23,1968.
Hon. JOSEPH M. MONTOYA,
Senate Office Building,
Washington, D.O.

DEAR SENATOR MONTOYA: The POUltry In
spection blll, H.R. 16363, that has been under
consideration by your Committee concerns
a matter about which we are deeply con
cerned-that of giving the consumers com
plete confidence in the wholesomeness of all
poultry and poultry products.

The areas of the blll Which, In our opinion,
would make this confidence less than valid
would be the impossible requirement of
proof for condemnation; allowing poultry
products to be shipped in Interstate com
merce from inadequate inspected state
plants, and the rermitting of poultry to Le
shipped from plants that do not conform to
the Federal Whole and Sanitary Inspection
requirement.

Your consideration of the consumer's pro
tection in these three areas is urgently re
qnested.

Sincerely,
DANIEL S. BEDELL,

Legislative Representative.

Mr. MONTOYA. Mr. President,
throughout my statement I made refer
ences to the widely acclaimed Whole
some Meat Act which we enacted last
year. Probably no individuals had more
to do with the successful passage of that
measure than Congressman GRAHAM
PuRCELL of Texas, Congressman NEAL
SMITH of Iowa. and Congressman THOMAS
S. FOLEY of Washington. Again this year,
they have combined forces in introduc
ing the Wholesome Poultry Products
Act. Their expertise in this field is sec
ond to none. They know the pitfalls, the
strengths, the weaknesses of this meas
ure. Because of their personal knowledge
of conditions in the poultry industry and
their own contributions, I was greatly
pleased to learn of their support of
position also. Again, Mr. President. I ask
unanimous consent that a letter of sup
port, bearing all three signatures which
they have sent to my colleagues, be made
a part of the RECORD at this point.

There being no objection, the letter
was ordered to be printed in the REC
ORD, as follows:
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DEAR SENATOR: We fear jJ)at an amend
ment added to the House-passed Poultry In
spection Bill by the Senate Agriculture Com
mittee would seriously weaken the Whole
some Meat Act of 1967 and we would like to
advance some reasons for your consideration.
The amendment referred to would permit
state-Inspected meat and poultry to move In
interstate commerce.

At present, only federally Inspected meat
and poUltry may be sold In Interstate com
merce. Under the Wholesome Meat Act of
1967, as well as the new Poultry Inspection
BUl, the States are given a minimum of at
least two years to bring their inspection pro
grams up to Federal standards; otherwise,
the Federal Inspection programs will apply
to all plants In the State, including those
Which do not sell outside the State.

As a practical matter, these state programs
may not always measure up In all respects
to Federal standards, and when a state leg
islation falls to appropriate enough funds
for Inspectors or Inspectors for any reason
become less effective, It may take several
months to correct the situation. These more
politically vulnerable State Inspectors also
may not condemn labeling or the mixing
of large portions of fillers. The Committee
amendment would permit these plants un
der law Inspections to ship all over the
United States. This would be unfair to U.S.
Inspected plants which ship Interstate to
the same market. It could result in promises
of accommodating inspections to meat plants
which wlll relocate and provide more pres
sure upon State legislatures for under-fund
ing of State Inspection systems.

A consumer could not keep adequately In
formed as to which plants In certain States
were really up to Federal standards and,
since foreign meat must meet Federal Stand
ards at all times, he may conclude that the
only thing to do Is buy only imported meat.

Any way one looks at it, we believe it
would seriously undermine the Wholesome
Meat Act we passed last year.

We understand the National Broiler Coun
ell is opposed to this amendment, and that
many of the legitimate packers and proc
essors oppose the amendment and fear that
it would result in a lack of confidence in
meat prodUCts and a loss of markets. We
also understand that when S. 2932 comes to
the Floor, Senator Montoya with bl-partlsan
co-sponsors will offer an amendment to
strike the Committee amendment. As spon
sors in the House of both the Wholesome
Meat Act and the Poultry Bill, we sincerely
hope you will consider the reasons we have
set forth above and support Senator Mon
toya's motion.

Sincerely,
GRAHAM PURCELL,

Member oj Congress Jrom Texas.
NEAL SMITH,

Member oj Congress Jrom Iowa.
THOMAS S. FOLEY,

Member OJ Congress Jrom Washington.

Mr. MONTOYA. Mr. President, I also
ask unanimous consent to have inserted
at this point in the RECORD, a news re
lease, dated July 10, 1968, from the
Office of the Special Assistant to the
President for Consumer Affairs, voicing
the support of that office of my position.

There being no obj~ction, the news
release was ordered to be printed in the
RECORD, as follows:

BETTY FuRNESS ATTACKS AMENDMENTS
TO POULTRY BILL

Betty Furness today attacked several new
Senate amendments to the poultry inspec
tion bill as "very unfortunate provisions
that can do nothing but harm to the con
SUDler."

The Special Assistant to the President for
Consumer Affairs saJd amendments at
tached by the Senate Agriculture Commit
tee could "seriously impair the effectiveness
of both the new poultry legislation and the
Meat Inspection Act passed last year."

"American consumers need, deserve and
demand strong and effective inspection pro
cedures for the food they consume," Miss
Furness said. "If the Senate amendments
are written into law it will become very dif
ficult to Insure that such procedures will
be applied to meat and pOUltry."

"If the new amendments are enacted," she
said, "States with meat and poultry inspec
tion programs that appear to equal the Fed
eral poultry program and the Federal meat
program will be able to ship their prodUCts
anywhere in the country without the Fed-
eral stamp." .

"States will be competing with each other
to attract meat and poultry packers and a
VeTy ready form of competition could be
the lowering of Inspection standards. All
poUltry and meat that enter into interstate
commerce should continue to be Federally
Inspected."

"There Is danger," the President's con
sumer advisor said, "that the whole Federal
food Inspection program will be undermined
If these amendments stand. I think that
would be an error of the very first order."

·Mlss Furness also attacked other Senate
drafted amendments to the pOUltry bill.
One, she said would "reqUire that poultry
Inspectors be supported by 'substantial
scientific fact' before they can condemn the
birds they inspect. Such scientific fact is
almost Impossible to come by In many cases
of defects that render birds unfit for human
consumption. Inspectors have neither the
time nor the facilities to furnish scientific
data on every carcass that ought to be con
demned."

"And, If the new amendments are enacted,
the Secretary of Agriculture will no longer
have the authority to require identifying
labels on all nonconsumer packaged car
casses shipped in bulk in Interstate com
merce. The absence of those labels raises the
strong posslblllty that birds not intended
or fit for human consumption will find their
way to family tables."

"Last year," Miss Furness said, "this very
consumer-conscious Congress enacted one of
the most effective food inspection laws In
the history of consumer protection. The
Wholesome Meat Act will go a very long
way toward Insuring the cleanliness and
healthfulness of all the meat sold In
America.u

"I think the pOUltry Inspection act should
be patterned after that bill. If It Is not, I
think there Is danger that the meat law will
be seriously, even dangerously, undermined.
If ftying foodstuff doesn't have to undergo
rigorous Inspection, then why should walk
ing foodstuff?"

"The public Is under the impression," Miss
Furness said, "that the poultry legislation
now being fashioned in Congress Is designed
for their benefit, that It will provide them
with the protection they need. It Is labeled
a consumer bill and widely touted as that."

"But pure poultry In the title of a blll is
not qUite as good as pure poultry on the
table. The only way we can insure that all
the fowl-like all meat--eonsumed in this
country is clean and wholesome will be
through strong Inspection laws. I hope the
Senate will restore that strength by deleting
these new amendments."

Mr. MONTOYA. The news media, too,
has not been remiss on this subject. Rep
resentative of the various news accounts
of this endeavor and of the problems
involved with these particular provisions
in the bill, is an article appearing in the

Des Moines, Iowa, Registc.r .on July 23,
1968, entitled, ."Undercutting Meat In
spection," I ask unanimouS consent that
this be printed in the RECOllD .at this
point.

There being no objection, the article
was ordered to be printed in the REC
OllD, as follows:

[From the Des Moines (Iowa) Register,
July 23, 1968J

UNDERCUTTING MEAT INSPECTION

The Senate Agriculture Committee last
week approved a desirable pOUltry Inspec
tion plan but, in the process, it okayed a
proposal which could wring the strength
from the existing federal meat inspection
program.

The pOUltry bill, like last year's Whole
some Meat Act, would cover intrastate
sales. States which don't meet federal stand
ards in three years would receive federal
Inspections.

The hooker in the committee-approved
version of the bill provides that when a
state meets federal Inspection requirements,
state-Inspected plants also could sell in
terstate. At present Interstate shipments
have to be federally inspected. Of even
greater significance, the committee went
back into the red meat act and there, too,
would allow state-inspected plants to ship
Interstate.

On the surface, this might seem to make
little difference as long as state inspectors
meet federal standards.

Below the surface, however, this makes
no sense and would seriously weaken the
consumer protection sought in both the
poultry proposal and the meat inspection
law.

For 60 years there has been a federal meat
Inspection program, and for some 15 years
there has been a pOUltry inspection system.
Federal Inspectors have checked the puri
ty of 87 per cent of the pOUltry-that sold
interstate--75 per cent of all slaughtered
meat and 85 per cent of all processed meat.

The nation long has accepted the view
that assuring the wholesOlIleness of meat
shipped interstate is a federal responsibil
ity. There are sound reasons for this.

The proposed change would present ma
jor meat processors with as many as 51 dif
ferent inspection systems to choose from-50
state and the federal programs. states might
compete for new meat plant locations with
promises of accommodating inspections.

The change would be apt to create 50 con
tinUing disputes over whether a state's in
spections truly met federal standards. In the
past, state agriculture departments have
been appallingly lax In their inspection pro
grams-which is why a federal remedy has
been demanded by consumers. State legis
latures consistently have under-funded
state inspection operations.

These same handicaps are likely to persist.
The outlook then would be one of marginal
state Inspection systems, struggling to com
ply with federal requirements, and bitter
disagreements over whether they have suc
ceeded. The consumer would be the loser, as
some states and some processors would try
to get by as cheaply as possible.

The change Is supported by state secre
taries of agriculture, who were aroused last
year by stories showing they hadn't been
doing their jobs, and by small independent
meat packers who would rather take their
chances with closer-to-home and more po
litically vulnerable state inspectors.

It is opposed by consumer spokesmen, in
cluding Representative Neal Smith (Dem.,
Ia.) , a sponsor of the poUltry bill. "It is
horrifying to contemplate the possible dis
mantlement ot the federal inspection sys
tem," writes Nick Kotz, Register reporter
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who won this year's Pul1tzer Prize for ex
posing unsanitat·)" meat handllng conditions
and lax state Inspections.

The House voted down an identical change
before approving the poultry inspection blll.
Before the measure is passed. either the full
Senate 'or House-Senate conferees should in
sist on plucking this harmful change from
the b111.

Mr. MONTOYA. The cattlemen of this
country, also, have voiced their opinion,
Mr. President. On yesterday evening, I
received a personal call from Mr. C. W.
McMillan, president of the National Cat
tlemen's Association, informing me that
the cattlemen of this Nation want com
plete consumer protection and therefore
support me in attempting to remove this
damaging provision from the bill. He has
authorized me to so state for the record.

Every segment of the industry has en
dorsed my efforts. These include those
already mentioned as well as the National
Turkey Federation and others. Last, Mr.
President, much has been made over
just where does the U.S. Department of
Agriculture stand on this issue of allow
ing interstate shipment of State-in
spected meat and poultry products. Part
of the alleged confusion revolves around
a letter of April 18, 1968, to Senator
ELLENDER as chairman of the Committee
on Agriculture and Forestry, from Mr.
Rodney E. Leonard, Administrator, Con
sumer and Marketing Service, U.S. De
partment of Agriculture. I would like to
read that letter for the RECORD and for
the enlightenment of our colleagues.

It reads as follows:
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE,
CONSUMER AND MARKETING SERVICE,

Washington, D.C., April 18, 1968.
Hon. ALLEN J. ELLENDER.
Chairman, Committee on .4.griculture and

Farestry, U.S. Senate.
DEAR MR. CHAmMAN: Mr. Harker Stanton

asked us to expl'ess the Department·s views
on Senator Holland's proposed amendment to
S. 2932-"To clarify and otherwise amend
the Poultry Products Inspection Act to pro
Vide for cooperation With appropriate State
agencies with respect to State poultry prod
ucts inspection programs, and for other
purposes,"

Mr. Holland's proposal would amend the
Federal Meat Inspection Act to provide the
basis for State inspected meats to move in
interstate commerce when the State inspec
tion system is e,qual to the Federal program.

We belleve this proposal is a reasonable
and logical approach to meaningful Federal
State accompllshments of the responsib111ty
to provide all consumers with a wholesome
meat supply. However, it must be recognized
that at this point in time, there exists a
substantial "body" of negative confidence
toward taking ~his direction.

We feel the' first goal should involve
demonstrating the development of meaning
ful programs under both the Meat and
POUltry Products Inspection Acts before pro
ceeding further. We intend to support such
an amendment when we are in a position to
demonstrate State programs ~re, in fact.
functioning as provided for by the Whole
some Meat Act.

Sincerely yours,
RODNEY E. LEONARD,

Administrator.

Mr. President, to me, this letter was
rather explicit. I will reread the last
paragraph which reads as follows:

We (the Department) feel the first goal
shOUld involve demonstrating the develop
ment of meaningful programs under both

the Meat and Poultry Products Inspection
Acts before proceeding further. We intend to
support such an amendment when we are
in a position to demonstrate State programs
are. in fact, functioning as provided for by
the Wholesome Meat Act.

As I stated, to me, this was quite clear
that Mr. Leonard was stating that the
Department would not support such an
amendment as was adopted by the com
mittee at this time.

However, there apparently was justi
fiable confusion on the part of others as
a result of this letter and other testi
mony presented and statements made by
other Department witnesses. Things ap
parently were so confusing to some, that
the committee report states on page 12:

The committee adopted Senator HOLLAND'S
amendment, belleying as does the Depart
ment that it is manifestly reasonable and
logical.

This statement in the committee re
port could not have been more wrong.

I personally asked Secretary of Agri
culture Freeman to relate to me on black
and white just what the Department's
position on the Holland amendment was.
Yesterday, July 26, I received the fol
lowing letter from the Secretary and I
read it now for the RECORD:

DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE,
Washington, D.C. JUly 26, 1968.

Hon. JOSEPH M. MONTOYA.
U.S. Senate.

DEAR SENATOR MONTOYA: The Holland
amendments to the Wholesome Poultry
Products Act now being considered by the
Senate, would permit interstate shipment of
State-Inspected meat and pOUltry after that
State's inspection program had been certified
as being at least equal to Federal inspection
standards.

No State inspection system has been so
certified yet, and It does not appear llkely
that any will be in the immediate future.

The Congress in future sessions w11l have
ample opportunity-and more information on
which to base a decision-to consider fully
the question of whether the States should
perform inspection responsibll1ties now car
ried out by the Federal Government.

The immediate goal is to develop a legis
lative framework and the program structure
to achieve uniformity of inspection, whether
it is performed by the Federal Government or
by the States. I am opposed to including the
provisions which would allow meat and poul
try inspected under State programs to move
in interstate commerce as part of the Whole
some POUltry Products Act.

Sincerely yours,
OavILLE L. FaEEMAN.

If there was confusion as to the De
partment's position before, there should
certainly be no confusion now. I will
repeat the Secretary's last sentence:

I am opposed to inclUding the proyisions
which would allow meat and pOUltry in
spected under State programs to moye in
interstate commerce as part of the Whole
some POUltry Products Act.

How much more direct can a position
be stated? The Department stands
squarely against the Holland amend
ment and in support of the Montoya
amendment.

In summary, Mr. President, the provi
sions of the Holland amendment would
endanger the present Federal inspection
programs with respect to both poultry
and meat products and threaten the
uniformity of inspection at a time when

the records before the committees of
Congress with respect to both of these
areas indicate the need for substantial
accomplishments under Federal and
State cooperation before it can be ex
pected that full protection of the con
sumer public with respect to all poultry
and meat products can be achieved. Few
States presently have any type of inspec
tion program with respect to poultry and
those few that do fall far short of being
at least equal to the Federal program.

The cooperative program provided
under the Wholesome Meat Act is in its
infancy and it is too early to anticipate
attainment of the end objective thereof
which certainly is a prerequisite to any
serious consideration of provisions such
as those here referred to.

n is true that both the meat inspec
tion law and the proposed poultry in
spection legislation call for State pro
grams which are at. least equal to the
Federal inspection. But these provisions
will not mean that State programs will
be as totally effective as the Federal one
in every aspect. There will be variations
in the provisions and in the enforcement
from State to State and between the
State and Federal programs. The result
will be confusion in the industry and
confusion of the part of the consumer.

Taking such congressional actions
now, while many plants are making prep
arations to meet the new requirements
and many States are chang"ing their in
spection programs. can only sow con
fusion and doubt about how rigorous and
how meaningful a consumer-protection
program Congress really wants.

Mr. President, I believe it is central to
our discussion here, to note that any
plant shipping into interstate commerce
can get Federal inspection free of. charge
right now providing it meets the require
ments. There is no reason to begin a
competition between the Federal and the
State programs on which can attract
more clients. There is no need to encour
age weak enforcement in order to entice
plants into a State.

I wish only to add that this Is not an
effort on our part in offering this amend
ment here today, to seek to delete pro
visions we know nothing about. Not only
am I a member of the Agriculture and
Forestry Committee. but so are Senator
MONDALE, Senator MCGOVERN, and Sen
ator HATFIELD, who join me in this effort.
I have heard concern expressed in this
Chamber during recent days that Sen
ators not even familiar with the subject
matter take to the floor to propose
amendments that effect the nature of
the bill under consideration. This is not
the case today. I am a committee mem
ber and I am joined by other committee
members in trying to bring to your at
tention the damaging action which was
so casually taken in committee.

Mr. President, on behalf of myself,
Senator MONDALE, Senator MCGoVERN.
and Senator CLARK, I will now discuss
our amendment No. 910 which is at the
desk.

The committee amended section 14 of
S. 2932, which amends section 15 of the
Poultry Products Inspection Act, by pro
viding in subsection (c) thereof for sub
stantial exemptions from all provisions
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of the act to certain producers. Anyone
raising their own poultry who does not
slaughter or process more than 4,000
head of turkeys or equivalent number of
birds of other species-on the ratio of
4% to I-would also be exempt from all
provisions of the act. Also exempt would
be any person engaged in the slaughter,
processing, or selling of poultry the
wholesale dressed value of which does
not exceed $15,000 in the current year.

As in the House-passed bill, these ex
emptions are limited to intrastate com
merce, except in the case of producers
who would be authorized to move their
product in interstate commerce, to a
household consumer, restaurant, board
inghouses, and similar establishments.

These provisions in subsection 15 (c)
(1) will undermine the intent of the leg
islation to increase the protection af
forded consumers of poultry. By reason
of the broad exemptions from all pro
visions of the act, they would constitute
an open invitation for such enterprises
to expose the consumers to the very
things which we are attempting to pro
tect them from. These enterprises would
not be subject to sanitary requirements
or inspection with respect to such re
quirements, the keeping of records or
the making of records available, or re
quirements for labeling or identification
of poultry products. As a result effectu
ating the purposes of the act in pro
tecting the consumers or enforcing the
provisions of the exemptions would be,
if not impossible, extremely difficult and
costly.

While it is recognized that a definite
need may exist to exempt certain small
operations from costly, impracticable,
continuous inspection, any such exemp
tion should be subject to such conditions
as are necessary to insure full protection
of the consumer public from adulterated
or deceptively labeled product. The Sec
retary of Agriculture, subject to a statu
tory maximum limitation, should be
vested with the authority to determine
and establish the level of production
under which exemptions should apply
and the safeguards which are necessary
to protect the public and permit ade
quate enforcement of necessary condi
tions of the exemptions.

Mr. President, the substitute amend
ment which I have just sent to the desk
is a logical approach to the problem of
the small producer. This amendment
proposed to do three things:

First. It gives the Secretary of Agri
culture the authority to exempt intra
state operations from the provisions of
the act if he determines that to do so is
necessary and will not unduly expose
the consumer to unwholesome poultry
products.

Second. It places a maximum level of
production over and above which the
Secretary cannot exempt. This level of
production would be 4,000 turkeys-or
the equivalent number of birds of other
species figured on the basis of 4.5 birds
for every turkey. This follows the SUg
gestions of Senator AIKEN to state the
level of exemption in terms of number
of birds rather than dollar value. Trans
lated into dollar value, we would be talk-

ing of approximately $15,000 worth of
birds--dressed value.

Third. It provides that even for those
establishments which the Secretary ex
empts from the other provisions of the
act, he must as a minimum require such
sanitation requirements or other condi
tions as will protect the public from
adulterated or misbranded products.

To summarize, then, Mr. President, my
substitute amendment would grant the
Secretary of Agriculture the authority to
exempt those operations which process
less than an equivalent of 4,000 turkeys
in a calendar year. But these exemptions
will be from only those provisions of the
act which he feels will not subject the
consumers of this Nation to adulterated
poultry products. I believe this amend
ment is only fair and equitable. We have
some operations which are too small to
make it feasible and would be too costly
to require them to meet all the conditions
of the act. However, even these exempted
establishments should be required to
maintain a sanitary plant to protect our
consumers. And, I think it is only logical
that we limit the exemptions to small
operations.

This amendment has been worked out
with the concurrence of the Department
of Agriculture. I have discussed it with
the Senator from Vermont [Senator
AIKEN] who had amended the language
in committee, and he is agreeable to this
approach to the extent that he had an
interest in it. I have also discussed this
with other members of the committee.

I urge its support by Senators.
Mr. President, I urge all my colleagues

to join me in expressing our support of
strong, effective consumer protection.

Mr. HOLLAND. I shall read one para
graph for emphasis. Mr. Leonard is
speaking for the Department with re
spect to this proposal. Referring to the
Holland amendment, or the State
amendment, or the Department amend
ment-call it what we will-he writes:

We believe this proposal' is a reasonable
and logical approach to meaningful Federal
state accomplishments of the responsibility
to prOVide all consumers with a wholesome
meat supply. However, it must be recognized
that at this point in time, there exists a sub
stantial "bodY"-

For some reason, Mr. Leonard en
closes the word "body" in quotation
marks. I do not know what that may
mean, but Senators can make up their
own minds. I continue:
a substantial "body" of negative evidence
toward taking this direction.

Then he concludes with a statement
which shows the falling backward of the
Department of Agriculture. Apparently
the Department cannot withstand pres
sure from Miss Furness and Mr. Nader,
and a few others. Mr. Leonard adds this
final paragraph:

We feel the first goal should involve dem
onstrating the development of meaningful
programs under both the Meat and POUltry
Products Inspection Acts before proceeding
further. We intend to support such an
amendment when we are in a position to
demonstrate State programs are, in fact.
functioning as provided for by the Whole
some Meat Act.

I commend Mr. Leonard for saying
that this is a reasonable and logical thing
to do, following upon the passage of the
Federal-State cooperative program ot
last year.

I also commend those who are urging
the adoption of my amendment, which
was supported in committee by. I believe,
a vote of 10 to 2, by calling attention to
the fact that we know. or thought we
knew. what the attitude of the Secretary
of Agriculture who is now serving was
with respect to the amendment. We
thought we knew what his enforcement
officer felt about it. We have written
statements from both of them. We do
not know who will be the Secretary of
Agriculture after January 20 next year.
We do not know what changes may be
expected as a result of the pressure from
folks like Miss Furness and Mr. Nader.

A distinguished Senator whom I see
in the Chamber at this time remarked a
while ago that he did not think Mr.
Nader knew any more about this ques
tion than he would know about the use
of certain automobile parts or the mak
ing of butter, or something of that kind.

Mr. MONDALE. Mr. President, I
warmly congratulate the distinguished
Senator from New Mexico for continu
ing his brilliant struggle to defend the
consumers and the ethical business lead
ers in the meat and poultry industry of
this country.

I believe his leadership in developing
the Wholesome Meat Act of 1967, and
today. on the Senate fioor, in pushing
ahead the consumer protection in the
poultry field as well, to prevent any re
trogression in the efforts to protect the
American consumer against the produc
tion, processipg, and sale of unwhole
some meat and poultry products. alreadY
mark his Senate career as a remarkable
and effective one for the people of this
country.

Senator MONTOYA detailed fully and
well, it seems to me, the situation that
exists in terms of State inspection of
meat and poultry products. It is not an
encouraging picture. It is one which we
hope will be corrected as time goes on,
by the application of a Wholesome Meat
Act of 1967. But the hope and the ful
fillment of that hope are two separate
matters. I believe these two matters are
at the heart of the debate as we have
heard it thus far, and as we will con
tinue to hear it in the hours ahead.

The theory of the Wholesome Meat
Act of 1967 is that States must establish
inspection systems "at least equal" to
the federal system or face -the risk of
having those systems taken over by the
Federal inspection service and estab
lished according to the latter standards.

As Senator MONTOYA has properly
pointed out, the present situation in both
meat and poultry at the State level is
not encouraging. Very few States have
systems which are even theoretically
adequate to the task. ThUS, we might ask
ourselves how long it will be and how
difficult it will be to achieve the objec
tives of the act we passed in 1967. If
we do not achieve those objectives quick
ly and in a revolutionary fashion; if we
permit, as is proposed by the Holland
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amendment, the interstate. shipment of
the production of meat or poultry pro
dUCts to consumers around this Nation,
outside the Federal inspection system.
the net effect may be to move us back";
ward rather than ahead of where we
were at the time the Wholesome Meat
Act was passed. This Holland proposaI
would radically alter the system of Fed
eral and state inspection in a way not
contemplated by the Wholesome Meat
Act by permitting access to interstate
markets of the production of intrastate
meat and poultry plants.

The Holland amendment has a fine
theoretical ring to it. Access to inter
state markets could not be permitted
until the state systems were "at least
equal" to the Federal system.

The problem is that practice may well
be at wide variance with the theory. We
do not know, and will not know for some
time, what the effectiveness will be of the
Wholesome Meat Act and the now-to-be
adopted Poultry Act. Until we have had
actual experience, and until we know that
the State inspection systems are in fact
equal to the Federal system, we will risk
the health and the purchasing power of
the American consumer by the adoption
of the Holland amendment.

U.S. statutes are replete with un
achieved legislative objectives. We can
not be sure, however much we desire it,
that we will achieve the Wholesome Meat
Act objectives immediately, in light of
the many obstacles that stand in their
way, and questions we cannot now an
swer.

Will Congress appropriate sufficient
funds for adequate supervision by the
U.s. Department of Agriculture of over
50 separate inspection systems in this
country and in the territories?

Will we have the funds to undertake
the cost of such supervision?

Can we obtain the seasoned and
trained inspectors to do the job?

It is a mammoth task, particularly in
light of the present disarray and inade
quacy of the state systems.

I· would say that if the Wholesome
Meat Act in 2 years achieves that revolu
tion, it will probably be the most superbly
successful act ever passed by Congress.

Representatives PURCELL, FOLEY, and
SMITH, who have led the fight in the
House of Representatives for wholesome
meat, prepared an excellent letter,
dated July 25, 1968, which they sent to
the Members of the U.S. Senate. I be
lieve one paragraph is particularly
pertinent on the point I am trying to
make. They state:

As a practical matter, these States· pro
grams may not always measure up in all re
spects to Federal standards, and when a state
leglslature fails to appropriate funds for
enough· inspectors or inspectors for any
reason become less effective, it may take
several months to correct the situation.
These more polltlcally VUlnerable State in
spectors also may not condemn labellng or
the mixing of large portions· of. fillers. The
Committee amendment would permit these
plants under lax inspections to ship all over
the Unlted -States. Thls would be un/air
to U.s. Inspected plants which ship in
terstate to the same market. It could result
in promlses of accommodating inspections to
meat plants whtchwill relocate and provide

more pressure upon state legislatures for
under-funding of State inspection systems.

Mr. President, I ask unanimous con
sent that the letter from these three
Members of the House of Representatives
be printed at this point in the RECORD.

There being no objection, the letter
was ordered to be printed in the RECORD,
as follows:

CONGRESS OF THE UNITED STATES,
HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,
Washington, D.O., July 25,1968.

DEAR SENATOR: We fear that an amend
ment added to the House-passed Poultry In
spection Bill by the Senate Agriculture Com
Inlttee would seriously weaken the Whole
some Meat Act of 1967 and we would llke to
advance some reasons for your consideration.
The amendment referred to would permit
state-Inspected meat and poultry to move in
interstate commerce.

At present, only federally inspected meat
and poultry may be sold In interS'tate com
merce. Under the Wholesome Meat Act of
1967. as well as the new Poultry Inspection
Bill, the States are given a minimum of at
least two years to bring their inspection pro
grams up to Federal standards; otherwise,
the Federal inspection programs will apply
to all plants in the State, including those
which do not sell outside the state.

As a practical matter, these State pr07
grams may not always measure up in all re
spects to Federal standards, and when a state
legislature fails to appropriate funds for
enough inspectors or inspectors for any rea
son become less effective. It may take several
months to correct the situation. These more
politically vulnerable State Inspectors also
may not condemn labellng or the Inlxlng of
large portions of fillers. The Committee
amendment would permit these plants under
lax inspections to ship all over the United
States. This would be unfalr to U.S. inspected
plants which ship interstate to the same
market. It could result in promises of accom
modating inspections to meat plants which
will relocate and provide more pressure upon
State legls1atures for under-funding of State
inspection systems.

A consumer could not keep adequately in
formed as to which plants in certain States
were really up to Federal standards and. since
foreign meat must meet Federal standards
at all times. he may conciude that the only
thing to do is bUy only Imported meat.

Any way one looks a.t It, we believe it would
seriously undermine the Wholesome Meat Act
we passed last year.

We understand the National Broiler Coun
cil Is opposed to this amendment, and that
many of the legitimate packers and proces
sors oppose the amendment and fear that it
would result In a lack of confidence inmeat
products and a loss of markets. We also un
derstand that when S. 2932 comes to the
Floor, Senator Montoya with bl-partlsan co
sponsors will offer an amendment to strike
the Committee amendment. As sponsors in
the House of both the Wholesome Meat Act
and the POUltry Bill, we sincerely hope you
'will consider the reasons we have set forth
above and support Senator Montoya's motion.

Sincerely,
GRAHAM PURCELL,
NEAL SMITH,

THOMAS S. FOLEY,
Members 0/ Oongress.

Mr. MONDALE. Mr. President, in ad
dition, we have the difficulty of the De
partment of Agriculture dealing with the
sOvereign States in the administration
of their own inspection systems. It is ob
viously much more difficult and delicate
than dealing with a particular plant. We
do not yet know how difficult or how long

it will be before we achieve the objectives
of the Wholesome Meat Act.

Next, a plant having equal access to
interstate markets under either system
that is, Federal or State-as proposed by
the Holland amendment, could play one
system off against the other. We have
seen this practice before, and we have
seen it abundantly under the present sys
tem. What are the possibilities for reduc
ing inspectipn standards if the lure of
national markets is available under
either system?

In addition, when one asks why the
Federal system has achieved what most
would acknowledge to be the world's best
inspection system, I believe one would
have to conclude that it has been the
department's power to exclude nonied
erally inspected meat from interstate
commerce that has been its chief asset.

In othel; words, in order to get access
to a national market, a plant has had to
subject itself to Fede,ral inspection as a
condition. This has been perhaps the
chief contributing factor to the strength
and vitality of this magnificent Federal
inspection system. If we weaken the Fed
eral inspection program, as proposed, we
may find the net effect of the attempt of
the 90th Congress to improve consumer
protection in this field has been to worsen
it.

Another feature of the proposed
amendment should be considered. Bad as
the state systems of inspection have
been, the unwholesome products of those
plants at least were limited to the con
sumers of the same State. Those products
could not be marketed to States many
thousands of miles away. At least it could
be said that the consumers of that state
had some hope of acquiring personal
knowledge--however little it was-of
which state plants were producing
wholesome meat. Consumers had a small
way of protecting themselves. Also, the
consumers of that state could, as voters,
resort to the political remedy of im
proved inspection methods. Under the
proposed amendment. even this limited
traditional consumer protection would
disappear.

It is significant to note that under the
Holland amendment, a new type, joint
Federal-State inspection stamp is con
templated, one which would give to State
production the Federal aura.

With this new Federal-State inspec
tion stamp, the consumer in a foreign
State buying a product of a state under
an inadequate State inspection system
may be buying unwholesome meat, but
the consumers would know nothing, and
the voters of the S:;ate could do nothing
because the products were from another
State.

Finally, consumers would be lulled
into a sense of false ~ecurity as a result
of false labeling. Under the Holland
amendment, a State-inspected plant in
state A could market unwholesome
meat and unwholesome poultry products
to the unsuspecting person in a State
thousands of miles away. They could not
possibly protect themselves or remedY
the situation through their political
power and protect themselves from the
inadequate inspection system of the
other State.
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If the Wholesome Meat Act of 1967
fails to achieve its objective of state sys
tems at least equal to the Federal sys
tem, the net effect of the Holland amend
ment would be to permit an increase in
the profits of a plant in State A at the
expense of the health and the purchas
ing power of citizens and consumers in
state B.

Let us think for a moment about the
interests of the industry. Plants which
have come under the Federal inspection
system have come under that system at
great expense to themselves. It is costly
to qualify according to Federal inspec
tion standards. Internal inspection fa
cilities, and other efforts must be under
taken which cost a great deal of money
in order for a plant to qualify under the
Federal inspection program, and obtain
the prestige of the Federal inspection
stamp.

Is it fair to permit a State-inspected
plant which has not undergone these
expenses, which has not exercised high
standards, which could benefit by a sub
standard system of inspection, to cut
costs and compete in interstate markets
with plants meeting higher Federal
standards?

We cannot underestimate the cost ad
vantage such a plant would have. First,
they could purchase meat which is sub
standard, diseased, and unwholesome.
Second, they could process the meat in
a dirty plant and save a substantial
amount of money by operating an un
sanitary plant. Next, they could use large
amounts of cheap fillers that would re
duce the cost to the plant and increase
the cost to the consumer. Finally, theY
could gain a competitive advantage by
re§orting to false labeling practices.

Ralph Nader testified 2 years ago be
fore the Committee on Agriculture and
Forestry that in this country bad meat
had become good business; and like
Gresham's law, bad meat was driving out
good meat, and the profits went to those
who could escape the cost and high
standards of the Federal system.

By eliminating inadequate plants, by
restricting markets and limiting them to
a single State, we close another ad
vantage to those who wish to escape the
high standards of the Federal inspection
system.

What about reducing the cost of in
spection standards? Plants, desperate to
be competitive, will jump from one in
spection system to another, always seek
ing that system which reduces their cost
and gives the competitive advantage.

The argument for the proposal to per
mit access to interstate market for intra
state plants hangs on a doubtful and
slim reed, namely, that the Wholesale
Meat Act will revolutionize the whole
system of State inspectionsJmd that this
revolution will quickly take place. This
is something we all hope will happen.
However, we must all doubt that it all
will happen quickly.

If our fears are justified, the Holland
amendment could leave not only State
systems in disarray, but go far toward
destroying the fine Federal inspection
system as well. Further, it would visit
tile cost of this deterioration on the con
sumer in terms of health hazards and

reduced purchasing power. It could also
visit on the highly ethical members of the
industry competition that is unfair from
plants able to cut costs because they are
in a system which does not have the same
standards.

Finally, I would ask: What is the rush?
We have just passed the Wholesome
Meat Act. The ink is barely dry. Why
can we not wait a few years to determine
if the act will work as well as we hope
it will? Why can we not give time to see
if it can establish itself to the point
where we will have a fine system which
is equal and adequate to serve the inter
ests of the consumers of this country?

If there are any plants today which
are intrastate and wish interstate mar
kets, they can get those interstate mar
kets by joining the Federal system. We
do not deny a single competitor the op
portunity to participate in national mar
kets if they choose to do so.

Therefore, I support the Montoya
amendment. I congratulate the Senator
from New Mexico for proposing the
amendment to the pending poultry in
spection bill.

I do not wish to be misunderstood. I
have enormous respect for the leader
ship of the Senator from Florida. I have
enjoyed working with him ov~r the years
in the Committee on Agriculture and
Forestry. I realize that what divides us
here is a good-faith, honest difference
of opinion. However, I do feel that the
Holland amendment would seriously
impair the effectiveness of the Whole
some Meat Act and the Poultry Act,
which I hope we adopt. Further, it could
have serious consequences for the con
sumers of the country.

I also wish to state at this time my
support for Senator MONTOYA'S amend
ment to strike the condemnation sec
tion amendment suggested by the gentle
man from Georgia.

Mr. MONTOYA. Mr. President, will
the Senator yield?

Mr. MONDALE. I am delighted to yield
to the Senator from New Mexico.

Mr. MONTOYA. Mr. President, I wish
to commend the junior Senator from
Minnesota for the avid interest he has
shown in behalf of the consumers of this
country. Last year he proved to be a
very valuable ally to me in the presenta
tion of the Red Meat Act which is now
the law of the land. This year he has
been most helpful in trying to articulate
not only before this body, but also be
fore other groups and with other individ
uals the need for consumer protection
with respect to poultry.

I think his argument today has been
most eloquent and very appropriate in
deed, because he has brought out points
which fortify the argument which I have
made previously with respect to the need
to delete the Holland amendment from
the provisions of the bill. I wish to pay
my greatest commendation to my good
friend from Minnesota for the interest
he has shown and the great contribution
he has made with respect to this debate.

Mr. MONDALE. Mr. President, I am
obviously very grateful to the Senator
from New Mexico for those kind re
marks. It seems to me he is unduly
modest because he led the fight in the
Senate for the Wholesome Meat Act, as

he leads the fight today for strengthen
ing the Poultry Inspection Act. I have
great confidence that, as in the former
case, he is going to be successful in the
current matter. I think the issue in which
we are now involved is important and
significant, and I am most hopeful that
the prediction I just made will be correct.

Mr. BYRD of Virginia. Mr. President,
will the Senator yield?

Mr. MONTOYA. I yield.
Mr. BYRD of Virginia. Mr. President,

I have listened with considerable interest
to the lengthy de'bate this morning-I
suppose I should add this afternoon as
well, because it is now well into the after
noon-on the two subjects we have been
discussing. One is the red meat inspec
tion and the other deals with poultry.

In my brief comments, I should like
to confine my remarks to the poultry
proposal.

As I have listened to the debate, and
as I understand the situation, the orig
inal proposal in regard to poultry was
introduced by the distinguished senator
from Louisiana [Mr. ELLENDER] for him
self and the distinguished Senator from
New Mexico [Mr. MONTOYA).

As I gathered from the debate, and if
I am in error about this I hope that I
shall be corrected, the original proposal
was submitted to the Congress and to
the distinguished chairman of the com
mittee by the Department of Agriculture.

Mr. HOLLAND. Mr. President, will the
Senator from Virginia yield at that
point?

Mr. BYRD of Virginia. I yield.
Mr. HOLLAND. I am glad the Senator

has brought out that point. The proposal
did come from the Department of Agri
culture. The bill was introduced by the
chairman of the committee, the Senator
from Louisiana [Mr. ELLENDER]. He has
already stated in debate that he care
fully examined the bill before he intro
duced it and thought that its provi
sions were good and. is still supporting
them. It was introduced for himself and
the Senator from New Mexico [Mr.
MONTOYA]. This proposal, coming as a
suggestion from the Department of
Agriculture, was also transmitted to the
House of Representatives, where it was
introduced by Representative PURCELL,
of Texas, for himself and others, and
contained the same proposal, in sub
stance-although I believe there was
some change in wording-but there is no
question about it, the proposal is the
same and came from the Department of
Agriculture.

All this is in accordance with the
commitments made in writing by the
Secretary of Agriculture himself, before
the introduction of these bills which, I
shall show, when I have the opportunity
to debate this matter; in accordance
with the position taken by the Assistant
Secretary of Agriculture in the hearings
before the House committee, who sup
ported this measure there; and in ac
cordance with the recommendations of
the head of the division which enforces
both the Red Meat Act and the Poultry
Act, which recommendation he stated
not only to the Congress but also to the
Independent Meat Packers of the Nation
in a convention before these bUls were
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introduced. I will be glad to bring these
matters into the RECORD later. I thank
the Senator for having brought this
point into the RECORD at this time.

Mr. BYRD of Virginia. I am grateful to
the distinguished Senator from Florida.
for bringing out in such detail a factual
account of the introduction of this legis
lation.

It is an extremely important piece of
legislation.

It is important to the consumers of the
Nation and important to those involved
in the poultry industry.

The more one learns about the pro
posal and the way it has been handled,
the more confused he becomes.

I might say-well, I shall not say it
exactly that way-I will say it a little
difIerently-but before doing that, I want
to read from the CONGRESSIONAL RECORD
of July 22 part of the statement made by
the distingUished Senator from Florida
[Mr. HOLLAND] in which he points out
that the Administrator of the Agricul
ture Department Consumer Marketing
Service, Mr. Leonard, wrote the distin
guished Senator from Louisiana [Mr.
ELLENDER], chairman of the committee,
that the Holland proposal is "a reason
able and logical approach to meanful
Federal-State accomplishments of the
responsibility to provide all consumers
with a wholesome meat supply."

Mr. President, I understand that the
Department of AgriCUlture, which
prepared the bill, which had the essence
of the Holland amendment in it as origi
nally introduced, and which asked the
chairman of the committee to introduce
it, and other Senators became conspon
SOl'S of it, is now complaining about the
proposal and is j-: opposition to it.

Mr. MONTOYA. Mr. President, will the
senator from Virginia yield at that
point?

Mr. BYRD of Virginia. I yield.
Mr. MONTOYA. If the Senator from

Virginia will read the last paragraph of
the letter from which he has been quot
ing, Mr. Leonard stated:

We feel the first goal should Involve demon
strating the development of meaningful pro
grams under both the Meat and Poultry
Products Inspection Acts before proceeding
further. We Intend to· support such an
amendment when we are in a position to
demonstrate State programs are, in fact,
functioning as provided for by the Whole
some Meat Act.

In addition to this, I would like to
read a quotation from the latest letter
which I have received, addressed to me
by the Secretary of Agriculture, and
which is already a part of the RECORD. I
asked the Secretary to reply to me as
to the Department's position on the Hol
land amendment.

Mr. BYRD of Virginia. If the sena
tor from New Mexico will yield briefly
at that point, when we get into this busi
ness of the latest letters, it reminds me of
the meat inspection bill we had before
the committee when, every few days, we
received a different letter from the De
partment of Agriculture saying what
they wanted.

Mr. MONTOYA. The Senator is cor
~ct. In fact, I had a little quarrel with

the different voices speaking on a par
ticular bill.

Mr. BYRD of Virginia. I remember
that the senator from New Mexico did.
He was correct, too.

Mr. MONTOYA. I would like to quote
from the Secretary's letter, Mr. Pres
ident.

Mr. BYRD of Virginia. How does the
Senator know it is good today? When
was it written?

Mr. MONTOYA. July 26, 1968. I hope
it will convince the Senator from Vir
ginia. It convinces me as to the Depart
ment's position.

I quote from the latest letter to me,
dated July 26, 1968, as follows:

The Holland amendments to the Whole
some Poultry Products Act now being con
sidered by the Senate, would permit Inter
state shipment of State-Inspected meat and
poultry after that State's Inspection program
had been certified as being at least equal to
Federal Inspection standards.

No State Inspection system has been so
certified yet, and It does not appear llkely
that any wllI be In the Immediate future.

The Congress In future sessions wlll have
ample opportunity-and more information
on which to base a decision-to consider fUlly
the question of whether the States should
perform Inspection responslblllties now car
ried out by the Federal Government.

The immediate goal Is to develop a legis
lative framework and the program structure
to achieve uniformity of Inspection, whether
It Is performed by the Federal Government
or by the States. I am opposed to Including
the provisions which would allow meat and
poultry Inspected under State programs to
move In interstate commerce as part of the
Wholesome Poultry Products Act.

Sincerely yours,
ORVILLE L. FREEMAN.

Mr. BYRD of Virginia. If I may com
ment at that point-and I shall be brief
and then yield the floor-that letter
which the distinguished Senator from
New Mexico has just read further drama
tizes the point I started out to make a
moment ago and then concluded to
phrase it a little differently.

The point I am greatly concerned
about is that the legislation was sub
mitted to the committee, submitted to
the chairman of the committee, with the
request that it be introduced.

It was drawn by the Department of
Agriculture. It contained in essence the
Holland amendment. So the Department
of Agriculture was thoroughly in sym
pathy with it when it asked the Mem
bers of the senate to introduce the legis
lation.

I was not a cosponsor of the piece of
legislation involved. I am glad I am not,
because we never know, from one day to
the next, apparently. just what the
people at the Department of Agriculture
think or want the Members of the Senate
to think.

The only thing I want to say, in con
cluding my remarks, is that it seems to
me it is going to be very awkward for
Members of the Senate to cooperate with
the Department of Agriculture ~ getting
through the Senate important legisla
tion, when the Department submits one
proposal, and then, when Senators are
kind enough or cooperative enough, as
the Senator from Louisiana [Mr. EL
LENDER] was, and as the Senator from

New Mexico [Mr. MONTOYA] was, to ac
cept that proposal and introduce it in the
Senate, the Department comes along and
wants to kill it.

I feel that the Senator from Florida
is on sound ground. His amendment does
exactly what the Department of Agri:..
culture said it wanted the Senate to do.
So I am glad to stand side by side with
the distinguished senior Senator from
Florida in re'gard to this amendment.

Mr. HOLLAND. Mr. President, if the
Senator will yield, first, I want to express
my very great appreciation to the Sena
tor from Virginia. I expected no less
of him. Second, I want to make it clear
that this doubletalk goes a good deal
further than has been indicated in the
colloquy. For example, Mr. Leonard, ap
pearing as the Administrator of the
wholesome meat program, in February of
this year, before the Mid-Year Confer
ence of the National 'Independent Meat
Packers Association, was questioned on
this very point as to the attitude of the
Department of Agriculture with refer
ence now to the Wholesome Meat Act
and the amendment of it. I shall read
from the plinted copy of the proceedings
at that time what the question put to
him was and what his answer was. The
question is found on page 2 of the printed
transcript of those proceedings:

Question: Is it the intention of the Ad
ministration to seek an amendment to the
Wholesome Meat Act to allow State-Inspected
establlshments operating under a State sys
tem which has met the requirements of "at
least equal to" under title III of the Whole
some Meat Act to engage In Interstate com
merce?

That question is very clear. and here
is the answer of Mr. Leonard, speaking
for the Department of Agriculture and
as the responsible head of the Enforce
ment Division of that unit:

Answer: Yes, It Is the Intention of the
Department of AgriCUlture to transmit a
draft amendment to the Congress for passage
this year.

That occurred in February of this year,
on the occasion which I have mentioned.

Frankly, the Senator from Florida is
even more puzzled than is the Senator
from Virginia about the vacillation and
the double talk-and I use the words
"double talk" advisedly-which comes
from the Department of AgriCUlture. The
Senator from Florida has considerable
responsibility in this fleld. He is the
ranking majority member of the legisla
tive Committee on Agriculture, on which
he is honored to serve with the dis
tinguished senator from Virginia and
the distinguished Senator from New Mex
ico, under the chairmanship of our able
chairman, the distinguished Senator
from Louisiana.

Besides that, the Senator from Florida
is chairman of the Appropriations Sub
committee which handles all appropria
tions for the Department of Agriculture.

The Senator from Florida cannot un
derstand the trend which has become so
manifest in this matter-and this, I am
sorry to say, is not the only matter in
which it has become clear-the tendency
and trend of the Department to speak
out of one side of its mouth today and
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out of the other side of its mouth to
morrow.

I am just serving notice now and here
that the Senator from Florida is going
to be much more cautious from here on
out about accepting at face value the
declarations of the Department of Agri
culture, so long as it is operated as it is
now.

I thank the senator from Virginia for
his able statement and for his support
of my position.

Mr. BYRD of Virginia. Mr. President,
the Senator from Florida has stated so
ably the feeling of the Senator from
Virginia. I want to cooperate with the
Department of Agriculture.

I think the Senator from New Mex
ico and the senator from Minnesota will
agree that the Senator from Virginia
cooperated fully in the hearings and the
deliberations preceding the enactment
of the Wholesome Meat Act.

At the request of the distinguished
chairman of the committee, I chaired
most of those hearings. I am very much
interested in the subject of protecting
the consumers. But what I find it very
difficult to do is to deal with a department
which submits one program and then,
when that program is introduced for
Senate consideration, comes down and
attempts to cut the feet out from under
those who have taken the responsibility
for presenting such a program. I am not
in that position, because I am not a co
patron of this legislation, but other Sen
ators are. I concur in the statement by
the distinguished senior Senator from
Florida that it is very difficult to co
operate with a department which acts
in such a fashion.

Mr. President, I yield the floor.
Mr, HOLLAND and Mr. BYRD of

West Virginia addressed the Chair,
Mr. HOLLAND. Mr. President, does

the Chair recognize the Senator from
Florida?

The PRESIDING OFFICER. The
senator from Florida is recognized.

Mr. HOLLAND. I am glad to yield to
the Senator from West Virginia.

Mr. BYRD of West Virginia. I
thank the Senator.

HIGHER EDUCATION AMENDMENTS
OF 1968

Mr. BYRD of West Virginia. Mr.
President, I ask the Chair to lay before
the Senate a message from the House of
Representatives on S. 3769.

The PRESIDING OFFICER laid be
fore the Senate the amendment of the
House of Representatives to the bill
(S. 3769) to amend the Higher Educa-

··tion Act of 1965, the National Defense
Education Act of 1958, the National Vo

.cational Student Loan Tnsurance Act of
1965, the Higher Education Facilities
Act of 1963, and related acts, which was,
strike out all after the enacting clause,
and insert:

That this Act may be cited as the "Higher
Education Amendments of 1968".
TITLE I-AMENDMENTS TO COMMUNITY

SERVICE PROGRAM PROVISIONS
EXTENSION OF GRANT PROGRAM

SEC. 101. (a) The first sentence of section
101 of the Higher Education Act of 1965 as
amended (1) by striking out "and" after

"1966," and (2) by inserting before thepe
riod at the end of such sentence the follow
ing: ", $10,000.000 for the fiscal year ending
June 30, 1969, and $50,000,000 for the fiscal
year ending June 30, 1970".

(b) The second sentence of such section
is amended by striking out "1969 and the
succeeding fiscal year" and inserting in lieu
thereof "1971, and the two succeeding fiscal
years".

(c) The second sentence of section 106(a)
is amended by striking out "three succeed
ing fiscal years" and Inserting In lieu thereof
"six succeeding fiscal years".
MODIFICATION OF REQillREMENT FOR COMPRE

HENSIVE COORDINATED AND STATEWIDE SYS

TEM OF COMMUNITY SERVICE PROGRAMS

SEC. 102. Section 105(a) (2) of the Higher
Education Act of 1965 is amended by insert
ing before the semicolon at the end thereof
the following: "(except that if a compre
hensive, coordinated, and statewide system
of community service programs cannot be
effectively carried out by reason of insuffi
cient funds, the plan may set forth one or
more proposals for community service pro
grams in lieu of a comprehensive, coordi
nated, and statewide system of such pro
grams) ".
TITLE II-AMENDMENTS TO COLLEGE

LIBRARY ASSISTANCE AND LIBRARY
TRAINING AND RESEARCH PROGRAMS

PART A-COLLEGE LmRARY RESOURCES

EXTENSION OF PROGRAM

SEC. 201. (a) The first sentence of section
201 of the Higher Education Act of 1965 Is
amended by Inserting after "two succeeding
fiscal years," the following: "$25,000,000 for
the fiscal year ending June 30, 1969, and
$35,000,000 for the fiscal year ending June 30.
1970,",

(b) The second sentence of such section
Is amended by striking out "1969, and the
succeeding fiscal year" and Inserting in lieu
thereof "1971, and the two succeeding fiscal
years".
ELIGIBILITY OF' BRANCH INSTITUTIONS FOR SUP

PLEMENTAL AND SPECIAL PURPOSE GRANTS

SEC. 202. (a) (1) The first sentence of sec
tion 203(a) of such Act is amended by in
serting after "Institutions of higher educa
tion," the following: "(and to each branch
of such institution which is located in a
community different from that in which its
parent Institution is located) ".

(2) The second sentence of such section
is amended by inserting" (or branch)" after
"institution",

(b) Section 204(a) (2) (A) of such Act Is
amended by inserting after "institutions of
higher education" the following: "(or to
branches of such Institutions which are lo
cated in a community different from that in
which the parent institution is located) ".

(c) Section 204(a) (2) (B) of such Act is
amended by inserting after "institutions of
higher education" the following: "(or to
such branches)".
REVISION OF MAINTENANCE-OF-EFFORT REQUIRE

MENT FOR SPECIAL PURPOSE GRANTS

SEC. 203. (a) Section 204(b) (2) of the
Higher Education Act of 1965 is amended by
inserting after "June 30, 1965" the folloWing:
", or during the two fiscal years preceding the
fiscal year for which the grant Is requested,
whichever Is less".

(b) The amendment made by subsection
(a) shall be effective with respect to appll
cations for grants payable on or after the
date of the enactment of this Act.

SEC. 204. (a) The first sentence of section
202 of the Higher Education Act of 1965 is
amended (1) by striking out "and"" and
inserting in lieu thereof a comma, and (2)
inserting after "such Institutions" the fol
lowing: ", Rnd, In accordance with criteria
prescribed by regulation, new Institutions of
higher educa.tlon in the fiscal year preceding

the first year in which students are to be
enrolled".

(b) The amendments made by subsection
(a) shall be effective with respect to ap
propria.tlons for grants under title n of the
Higher Education Act of 1965 for fiscal years
beginning after June 30, 1969.
PART B-LmBARY TRAINING AND RESEARCH,

AND LmRARY SCHOOL DEVELOPMENT

EXTENSION OF PROGRAM

SEC. 221. (a) The first sentence of section
221 of the Higher Education Act of 1965 is
amended by inserting after "two succeeding
fiscal years," the following: "$11,800,000 for
the fiscal year ending June 30, 1969, and
$28,000.000 for the fiscal year ending June 30,
1970,",

(b) The second sentence of such section
is amended by striking out "1969, and the
succeeding fiscal· year" and inserting In lieu
thereof "1971, and the two succeeding fis
cal years",

AMENDMENTS TO LmRARIANSHIP TRAINING

PROVISIONS

SEC. 222, The second sentence of section
223(a) of the Higher Education Act of 1965
is amended-

(1) by striking out "to assist In covering
the cost of courses of training or stUdy for
such persons, and" and inserting in lieu
thereof "( 1) to assist In covering the cost of
courses or training or study (inclUding short
term or regular session institutes) for such
persons, (2) "; and

(2) by inserting before the period at the
end thereof the following; ", and (3) for es
tablishing, developing, or "expanding pro
grams of library and information science",
PART C-8TRENGTHENING COLLEGE AND RE-

SEARCH LmRARY RESOURCES THROUGH LI
BRARY OF CONGRESS

EXTENSION OF PROGRAM

SEC. 231. (a) Section 231 of such Act Is
amended by striking out "and" after "1967,"
and by Inserting after "1968," the following:
"$5,500,000 for the fiscal year ending June
30, 1969, and $11,100,000 for the fiscal year
ending June 30, 1970,",

(b) The second sentence of such section Is
amended by striking out "1969, and the suc
ceeding fiscal year" and inserting in lieu
thereof "1971, and the two succeeding fiscal
years".
CLARlFYING AUTHORITY TO PURCHASE COPIES;

INCREASING AUTHORITY TO PREPARE CATALOG
AND BmLIOGRAPHIC MATERIALS; AUTHORIZING
LIBRARIAN TO ACT AS ACQUISITIONS AGENCY

SEC. 232. Section 231 of the Higher Educa-
tion Act of 1965, as amended by section 231
of this Act, Is further amended-

(1) In paragraph (1), by inserting "copies
of" before "all";

(2) in paragraph (2), by striking out "for
these materials promptly after receipt, and
distributing bibliographic Information" and
inserting in lieu thereof "promptly and dis
tributing this and other bibliographic Infor
mation about library materials", and by
striking out the period at the end thereof
and inserting in lieu thereof "; and"; and

(3) by adding after paragraph (2) the
following new paragraph:

"(3) enabling the Librarian of Congress
to pay administrative costs of cooperative
arrangements for acquiring library materials
pUblished outside of the states and not
readily obtainable outside of the country of
origin, for Institutions of higher education
or combinations thereof for llbrary purposes,
or for other public or private nonprofit re
search libraries,"
TITLE nI-EXTENSION OF DEVELOPING

INSTITUTIONS PROGRAM
EXTENSION OF DEVELOPING INSTITUTIONS
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SEC. 301. (a) Section 301(b) (1) of the
Higher Education Act of 1965 is amended by


